
Please ask for  Julie Britton DDI (01362) 656343
e-mail: julie.britton@breckland.gov.uk

AGENDA
NOTE: In the case of non-members, this agenda is for information only

Committee - LOCAL PLAN WORKING GROUP
Date & Time - FRIDAY, 17TH MARCH, 2017 AT 

1.30 PM
Venue - ANGLIA ROOM, THE 

CONFERENCE SUITE, DEREHAM

Members of the Working Group

Mr S.G. Bambridge (Chairman)
Mr S. H. Chapman-Allen

Mr M. S. Robinson
Mrs A. M. Webb

PERSONS ATTENDING THE MEETING ARE 
REQUESTED TO TURN OFF MOBILE TELEPHONES

Democratic Services
Elizabeth House, Walpole Loke,
Dereham Norfolk, NR19 1EE

Date: 10 March 2017 

Public Document Pack



Local Plan Working Group
Friday, 17th March, 2017

PART A - ITEMS OPEN TO THE PUBLIC

Page(s)here
with

1. APOLOGIES 
To receive any apologies for absence.

2. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST 
The duties to register, disclose and not to participate for the entire 
consideration of the matter, in respect of any matter in which a Member has a 
disclosable pecuniary interest are set out in Chapter 7 of the Localism Act 
2011.  Members are also required to withdraw from the meeting room as 
stated in the Standing Orders of this Council.

3. URGENT BUSINESS 
To note whether the Chairman proposes to accept any item as urgent 
business, pursuant to Section 100(B)(4)(b) of the Local Government Act 1972.

4. NON MEMBERS WISHING TO ADDRESS THE MEETING 
To note the names of any non-members who wish to address the meeting.

5. CHAIRMAN'S ANNOUNCEMENTS (IF ANY) 

6. LOCAL PLAN AFFORDABLE HOUSING POLICY 4 - 10

Report by Jemma March, Principal Planning Policy Officer (Capita).

Due to its size the appendix to the report will be sent as a separate 
supplementary agenda.

7. REVISIONS TO RURAL AREAS POLICY PD05 11 - 18

Report by Sarah Robertson, Senior Planning Policy Officer (Capita).

8. WATER CYCLE STUDY UPDATE 19 - 31

Report by Jemma March, Principal Planning Policy Officer (Capita).

Due to its size, Appendix 2 of this report will be sent as a supplementary 
agenda.

9. HISTORIC CHARACTERISATION STUDY 32 - 36

Report of Sarah Robertson, Senior Planning Policy Officer (Capita).

Due to its size the appendix to this report will be sent as a separate 
supplementary agenda.

10. INDOOR AND BUILT SPORTS AND RECREATIONAL FACILITIES STUDY - 
FINAL 

37 - 72

Report by James Mann, Planning Policy Officer (Capita).

Due to their size, appendices B, C and D will be sent as separate 
supplementary agendas.



Local Plan Working Group
Friday, 17th March, 2017

Page(s)
herewith



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Councillor Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Growth

To: Local Plan Working Group 17.03.17

Author: Jemma March, Principal Planning Officer

Subject: Local Plan Affordable Housing Policy 

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to advise Members on the preferred policy requirements 
for affordable housing to be included within the Local Plan

Recommendation(s): It is recommended that:

a) Members accept the Local Plan and CIL Viability Assessment as evidence for the Local Plan
b) Members consider the content of this report, and endorse option 1 to recommend the Local Plan be 

progressed with an affordable housing requirement of 25%.

1.0 Background

1.1 The Local Plan and CIL Viability Assessment (referred to as the Assessment or Viability 
Assessment in this report) were presented to the Local Plan Working Group on the 3rd February 
2017. 

1.2 Since that time, minor modifications have been made to address matters raised at the 
previous Local Plan Working Group, although the general content and findings of the 
Assessment remain unchanged. The areas which have been amended are section 10 
onwards

1.3 The conclusions within the reported include recommendations relating to affordable housing, based 
on its findings about the general viability of development (sale prices, build costs etc) and therefore 
ability to support affordable housing provision.  

1.4 Given the central importance of affordable housing to the local plan, members of the Working Group 
requested a further, more targeted, report that specifically looked at the matter of affordable housing 
provision and the available policy choices, as informed by the findings of the Viability Assessment.  

1.5 It is important to note at the outset that the need for (and viability of) affordable housing must 
be balanced with the need for infrastructure to support development, as identified within the 
Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP).

1.6 This report aims to provide additional information to inform members of the options available in 
relation to setting of affordable housing policy within the Local Plan.

1.7 Local Context

1.8 The need for infrastructure

1.9 The Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) is currently being drafted to support the Local Plan, 
setting out the infrastructure required, capacity issues, solutions, costs and funding 
mechanism. A draft version was presented to Member’s at the Local Plan Working Group 
held 3rd February 2017. The IDP sets out that the majority of the required infrastructure 

4

Agenda Item 6



2

(classified as ‘critical’ or ‘essential’) to support the proposed allocations could be obtained 
from developers through S106 agreements, or may be delivered via the asset management 
plans of other bodies (such as Anglian Water, UK Power Networks etc). There are 
generally few alternative funding sources. However, the Council has been successfully 
working with partners to secure the funding for strategic projects such as a new sub-station 
at Snetterton or towards transport improvements for Attleborough SUE. These have been 
secured by grants from the New Anglia Local Economic Partnership. 

1.10 The IDP has identified limited capacity of existing infrastructure categories including water 
(particularly the piped wastewater network and some WwTW’s, local transport networks 
(particularly Dereham), heath services and education and therefore a wide range of new or 
improved infrastructure has been identified in the IDP to support the allocations. This 
emphasises the importance of balancing the need affordable housing with seeking vital 
financial contributions from developers via s106. However, whilst emphasising the 
requirement for development contributions (via s106) to fund infrastructure, the IDP has not 
identified any critical or essential infrastructure which can only be delivered by 
implementing CIL.

1.11 The need for affordable housing

1.12 The Central Norfolk Strategic Housing Market Assessment SHMA (Jan 2016) sets out the 
affordable housing need across central Norfolk (includes neighbouring authorities; North 
Norfolk, South Norfolk, Broadland and Norwich City). The SHMAA identifies a need for 882 
affordable homes a year for the remainder of the plan period to meet current unmet need 
for affordable housing in addition to the projected future growth in need. This equates to 
31.9% of the total housing stock covering the whole central Norfolk SHMA area. 

1.13 In relation to affordable housing need, the SHMA concludes: ‘It is apparent that Central 
Norfolk would benefit from a higher level of affordable housing delivery if that was viable, as 
this could reduce the number of households relying on housing benefit in the private rented 
sector’. As recognised in the SHMA, one of the key factors in delivering affordable housing 
is viability. Whilst there is an optimum target to address affordable housing need, it is 
necessary to take into account what can realistically be delivered so that policies in the plan 
do not constrain the overall delivery of housing by placing excessive restrictions on the 
development industry. 

1.14 Affordable housing/S106 achieved between 2015-2017

1.15 Breckland’s Annual Monitoring Report reports that in the last full financial year (April 2015 - 
March 2016) 20.8% of dwellings completed were affordable. This provides a broad indicator 
of what level of affordable housing is being built in the district taking into account all types 
of development sites including affordable housing exception sites and smaller sites under 
11 units that do not provide any affordable housing.  

1.1 Analysis of major sites which have been given planning permission since April 2015, which 
have been subject to a section 106 agreement has shown that on average they have 
achieve 36% affordable housing whilst also providing a financial contribution of £2,127 per 
dwelling. It should be noted however, that the sample size of suitable permission for this 
analysis to be undertaken on was low (a total of 14 sites, of which half are outline 
permissions). It does include sites of 11 or more dwellings, where there is a known 
affordable housing split. Both the Thetford SUE and affordable housing exception sites 
were excluded from the analysis and it was considered they would represent exceptional 
circumstances and are not typical of development within Breckland.
 

1.2 The size of the sample data is not sufficiently large to develop a robust conclusion on 

5



3

affordable housing, although it does indicate that the current policy of 40% is not being 
achieved in the district. Historical data is patchy and does not take into account the impact 
of proposed policies in the Local Plan on viability, or pressing infrastructure needs which 
rely on S106 contributions which are key considerations in developing a new target 
threshold.

1.3 Modelling of different rates of affordable housing and S106 financial contributions in 
the Assessment

1.4 Chapter 10 of the Assessment details the results of the residential appraisals. Table 10.7a 
of the Assessment shows a detailed consideration of a selection of example sites of 
different sizes, general locations and whether it is a brownfield or greenfield site based on 
information published in the Council’s SHLAA. The tables use the example site type to 
show the impact on residual value against a benchmark when applying different thresholds 
of affordable housing and a range of potential developer contributions from £0 to £30,000 
per dwelling. The results are graded into green, amber and red representing viable, 
marginally viable and not viable respectively. The modelling has taken into account the 
impact of proposed policies in the Local Plan on viability in the figures on residual value.

1.5 It is clear from the table that the higher the affordable housing threshold, the greater 
number of site types become unviable, with only the medium sized and some small 
greenfield sites being able to make any financial contributions to infrastructure. Bearing in 
mind that the smaller site types (below the national threshold of 11) would not contribute 
towards affordable housing due to the size of site. A much higher range of site types are 
viable to make financial contributions to infrastructure when considering a threshold of 20% 
and 25%.  There is essentially little difference in the modelling between these two levels 
with a similar range of sites being viable.  However, when adopting the lower target of 20%, 
it is possible to derive a higher amount of financial contribution from those sites which is 
about £5,000 more than at the 25% level. This could allow for a greater level of 
contributions towards infrastructure identified in the IDP, but does not have the benefit of 
seeking the best position in terms of delivering affordable housing for those in identified 
need.

1.6 The Assessment is a high level exercise based on many assumptions and therefore these 
tables are a useful tool to consider, but there are limitations. The key finding is that when 
adopting a threshold of 30% or above affordable housing this starts to reduce the amount of 
site types that would be viable to contribute to infrastructure, or likely come forward for 
development. When considering lower thresholds there appears to be little difference in 
terms of considering a 20% or 25% threshold on viability in terms of broad categorisation 
(green / amber / red).  The lower threshold would allow for a greater financial contribution 
towards infrastructure as standard, however, it if the policy requirement was set at 25% 
then there would still be opportunity for viability to be assessed on a case by case basis 
where this level of affordable housing and s106 contributions are sought, but for those 
schemes which are viable at this level a greater overall level of contributions will be 
secured. Because of the similarly in terms of broad categorisation it would not be 
considered to compromise overall plan viability.  

1.7 Consideration of the findings of the Assessment in relation to the recommendations 
on CIL and the affordable housing threshold

1.8 It is not the purpose of this report to consider whether or not CIL should be progressed. 
Therefore, whilst the study does provide some initial evidence on this matter there are a 
greater range of factors that authorities will need to take into account which are not 
considered here.  

6



4

1.9 The CIL Guidance and CIL Examiner’s reports say that CIL should not be set at the 
margins of viability.  In the situation that the Council wanted, at some point in future to 
pursue CIL, the study recommends adopting a policy which seeks 20% as standard, rather 
than 25%.  If the rate of affordable housing was set at a lower level and CIL not progressed 
for a period, or at all, this would have the effect of increasing the developers profit in the 
ensuing period. 

1.10 The study noted that sites adjacent to the main settlements of Dereham, Attleborough and 
Thetford would not contribute towards CIL. This accounts for the majority of development in 
the district (83%) largely due to the scale of the SUE’s. 

1.11 Therefore, if the Council chose to progress CIL at a point in future, this would need to be 
undertaken in parallel with a single policy review in relation to affordable housing. 

1.12 Conclusions

1.13 In summary

1.14 A) The SHMA has identified a significant affordable housing need, which we are required to 
seek to address as part of providing for our objectively assessed housing need.

1.15 B) The IDP has identified that is it critical that an allowance if made for s106 contributions to 
ensure the provision of essential infrastructure as part of allocations

1.16 C) The study identifies that a level of affordable housing of up to 25% still allows for a level 
of developer contributions without undermining viability.

1.17 D) As a consequence, setting policy at 25% will maximise the level of affordable housing 
required, whilst ensuring contributions to infrastructure can be made.  In doing so, it is 
accepted that for certain sites, in certain locations, a site specific viability assessment may 
still be required and a lower level of contributions or affordable housing sought.  However 
such an approach will maximise the amount of affordable housing delivered overall.

1.18 E) There is opportunity to review the affordable housing threshold as a single policy review, 
without having to review or amend the entire Local Plan, should further evidence support 
changes to the adopted policy.  

1.19 Recommendation

1.20 The results of a consideration of available evidence including the SHMA, modelling in the 
Viability Assessment, the need for infrastructure and the data on recent delivery of 
affordable housing and S106 collections over the past 2 years points to a recommended 
affordable housing rate of 25% on qualifying sites. 

1.21 Such a level is lower than historical rates received on permitted sites because the former 
threshold does not take into account the effect of proposed planning policies in the plan on 
viability (used to inform the modelling) or the level of infrastructure required to be funded 
through S106 agreements.  

1.22 Officers recommend that a threshold of 25% affordable housing is adopted in policy in the 
Local Plan as this maximises the potential to receive S106 financial contributions from 
developers to fund the critical and essential infrastructure identified in the IDP. It also 

7



5

broadly reflects the recommendations in the Viability Assessment, which whilst 
recommending a lower figure of 20% did so from a position of applying the higher threshold 
land value which would apply should CIL be pursued.  The modelling has demonstrated 
that at 25% that a range of site types would remain viable with scope to make contributions 
to infrastructure. There would still be scope for negotiation in the development management 
process to negotiate a lower affordable housing level if the site was proven not to be viable 
when applying the 25% threshold in exceptional circumstances.
 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 There are three options available to Members, as follows: 

2.2 Option 1 –That Members endorse an affordable housing requirement of 25% as the basis for 
preparing the next stage of the plan.

2.3 Option 2 –That Members endorse a lower level of affordable housing provision. 

2.4 Option 3 – That Members endorse a higher level of affordable housing.

2.5 Option 4 - Alternatively, Members could choose not to publish the Local Plan and CIL Viability 
Assessment as evidence for the Local Plan and choose an affordable housing threshold 
which has no evidential basis.

3.0      REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1      The recommendation at Option 1 has been made in order to comply with requirements in 
the National Planning Policy Framework and to support the Local Plan, seeking to strike the 
optimal balance between affordable housing and infrastructure delivery without compromise 
overall delivery of our housing supply.

3.2      Endorsing Option 2 is not recommended as this will not maximise the level of affordable 
housing provision in line with identified need, thereby having the effect of providing 
developers with additional profits beyond that necessary for a scheme to proceed.  There 
may be some sites that will still not be viable at this level, but site specific viability 
assessments can still be required.  Whilst a lower threshold is recommended in the 
Assessment to support CIL, because of the higher threshold land values the ability to levy 
CIL is severely constrained, which would have a major impact upon the benefits achieved 
(which would have to be weighed against the disbenefits of the lower level of affordable 
housing achieved on those sites which could have achieved 25%). As further work would 
be required before, as part of a separate exercise, the Council considers whether to pursue 
the implementation of CIL it would be unwise to set the affordable housing percentage at a 
level that assumes CIL and give up additional affordable housing in the meantime. If the 
Council proceeds with CIL the affordable housing percentage could be considered in 
tandem as part of a single issue policy review and adjusted to the appropriate level.   

3.2     Endorsing Option 3 is not recommendation at it is not supported by evidence which shows 
that at this level a high proportion of our Local Plan housing supply would be unable to levy 
any s106 contribution, compromising ability to delivery essential infrastructure and 
potentially placing the delivery of the wider local planning strategy for Breckland into 
question.

Endorsing Option 4 is not recommended there would be no evidential basis for a decision on the 
affordable housing threshold and therefore the affordable housing policy would not be 

8



6

compliant with the requirements of the NPPF for policy formulation to be based on 
appropriate, robust evidence.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1       The NPPF requires Local Authorities to prepare Local Plans. The Study forms an essential 
part of the evidence base for the Local Plan. The requirement to assess viability forms part 
of the NPPF, is part of the Strategic Housing and Employment Land Availability Assessment 
(HELAA) and is a requirement of the CIL Regulations.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2       Constitution & Legal

5.2.1    It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 Publishing the Local Plan and CIL Viability Assessment supports the work on the Local 
Plan and aligns with corporate priority: Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive; 
providing the right services at the right time and in the right way; developing the local 
economy to be vibrant with continued growth and enabling stronger, more independent 
communities. The production also aligns with the priority of enabling effective planning and 
delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

9



7

5.8.2 The policy could be subject to challenge at examination, however the recommendation 
approach seeks to strike a balance between the available evidence. 

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 Member’s discussion will help to inform the preparation of the pre-submission Local Plan. 

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The Local Plan has implications for all wards in Breckland.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 Acronyms include
 CIL: Community Infrastructure Levy
 HELAA: Housing and Economic Land Availability Assessment
 IDP: Infrastructure Development Plan
 NCC: Norfolk County Council
 NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework
 SUE: Sustainable Urban Extension

Background papers:- 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Steve Ottewell, Director Planning and BC
Telephone Number:
Email: Stephen.Ottewell@urbanvision.org.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A: Local Plan and CIL Viability Assessment 

10



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge – Executive Member for Growth 

To: Local Plan Working Group - 17th March 2016 

Author: Sarah Robertson – Senior Planning Policy Officer (Capita)

Subject: Revisions to Rural Areas Policy PD05

Purpose: The purpose of this report is for members to note the revisions to Policy 
PD05 Rural Areas for inclusion within the pre-submission publication Local 
Plan

Recommendation(s): 

1) It is recommended Members note the revised version of policy PD05 and provide comments 
on it to inform the pre-submission publication document.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Members will recall that a revised version of Policy PD05 was discussed at the Local Plan 
Working Group on 3rd February, which had regard to the comments received during the 
Preferred Sites and Settlement Boundaries consultation in September and October 2016. 
At the working group Members requested further consideration of the policy and as such an 
updated version is presented at Appendix A of this report.

1.2 The intention of the policy is to present a sensitive approach to rural housing where there 
are currently limited opportunities. The policy approach is respectful of the NPPF's 
requirements to avoid isolated new homes in the countryside whilst also striking a balance 
with the needs of local communities. Members will be aware that Policy PD05 is separated 
into two sections, referred to as parts A and B. Part A relates to those rural settlements 
which retain a settlement boundary, whilst part B refers to those smaller villages and 
hamlets which do not have a settlement boundary.

1.3  The following key revisions have been made to the policy:

 The policies have been revised to provide individual reasoned justifications for parts A 
and B. The reasoned justification is used to provide supporting text for the policy and 
expand on key principles within the policy and how it will be applied to planning 
applications.

 Part A – the criteria have been updated to include the requirement for a community 
benefit. The previous requirement for support by local communities received 
objections during the last consultation period, including from NCC. The reasoned 
justification seeks to set out how an applicant could demonstrate a community benefit 
to a scheme coming forward, and includes within it the role of parish council support.

 
 Yaxham has been included as a part A settlement within the policy, following the 

decision at the last working group not to designate it as a Local Service Centre 
village. 

 Part B would relate to all small villages and hamlets, including those which may be 

11

Agenda Item 7



part of an overarching higher order parish. This reflects the size of parishes within 
Breckland and the nature of development within them. For instance this would mean 
that East Bilney could be considered under policy PD05 B in spite of sitting within 
Beetley being a PD05 A settlement.

 Part B of the policy reinforces the requirement for local support to be included as a 
criteria for the determination of applications.

 Both parts A and B of the policy include support for self build dwellings subject to 
meeting other policy requirements.

1.4 Policy PD05 A would allow for 5% growth against the number of dwellings inside the 
settlement boundaries, from the point of adoption. This is similar to the approach within the 
Local Service Centres, where 10% growth is proposed. This would result in the following 
numbers of dwellings being able to be built within the settlements.

Parish Number of 
dwellings within 
the settlement 

boundary

5% growth 
against dwellings 
inside settlement 

boundary 
Beeston 120 6
Beetley 395 20

Carbrooke 156 8
Caston 99 5

Gressenhall 368 18
Griston 185 9

Hockham 243 12
Lyng 305 15

Mundford 635 32
North Lopham 138 7

Quidenham 98 5
Rocklands 156 8

Saham Toney 539 27
Shropham 102 5
Thompson 101 5

Weasenham 111 6
Yaxham 304 15

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 The report is presented to note the contents and inform discussion, therefore no options are 
presented here.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The recommendation is for Members to note the contents of the report and provide a steer 
for any further revisions to inform the pre-submission publication Local Plan.

12



4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefit is that it would allow the Local Plan to Progress.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The Local Plan aligns with the following corporate priorities: Supporting Breckland to 
develop and thrive; providing the right services at the right time and in the right way; 
developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth and enabling stronger, 
more independent communities. The production also aligns with the priority of enabling 
effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

13



5.12.1 The Local Plan will be subject to a further publication period in May/June followed by a 
public examination. The timescales for the Local Plan are set out within the Local Development 
Scheme.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards in Breckland are affected by the Local Plan. Policy PD05 has particular 
implication for the smaller rural villages and hamlets.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 LPWG: Local Plan Working Group

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sarah Robertson, Senior Planning Policy Officer
Telephone Number: 01362 656 857
Email: Sarah.robertson@capita.co.uk

Key Decision: No

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Approach to Rural Areas: Revised Policy PD05

14

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


Approach to Rural Areas (outside the three tiers of the Sustainable Settlement Hierarchy)

Breckland is a diverse District, up to 20% of the population live outside the top three tiers of the 
settlement hierarchy (Key Settlements, the Market Towns and Local Service Centres), in the rural 
areas characterised by dispersed villages and hamlets. With regards specifically to rural areas the 
NPPF advises that authorities should be responsive to local circumstances and plan housing 
developments to reflect local needs in a sustainable manner.

Policy PD05 seeks to capture the need to direct growth to the most sustainable locations, support 
local services, balance residential needs and employment opportunities, and seeks to enhance the 
rural economy thereby helping to maintain the vitality of rural communities. In line with the locally 
distinctive approach to sustainable development, rather than seeking to restrict all development 
outside the sustainable settlement hierarchy and inside of the settlement boundaries of the existing 
rural settlements where there are limited opportunities, this policy seeks to present a sensitive 
approach to rural housing that is responsive to local circumstances, striking a balance with 
employment needs and the countryside.  

Policy PD05A - Settlement Boundaries in Rural Areas 

Policy PD05A - Settlement Boundaries in Rural Areas 

The following settlement boundaries are defined on the policies maps:

Beeston, Beetley, Carbrooke, Caston, Gressenhall, Griston, Hockham, Lyng, Mundford, North 
Lopham, Rocklands, Saham Toney, Thompson, Weasenham, Shropham, Eccles Road (Quidenham), 
Clint Green and Yaxham

In accordance with the presumption in favour of sustainable development, inside the settlement 
boundaries, the principle of new development is deemed to be acceptable. 

Appropriate development will be allowed immediately adjacent to the settlement boundary where all of 
the following criteria are satisfied:

 It is minor development of an appropriate scale and design to the settlement of up to 5 
dwellings;

 It would not lead to the number of dwellings in the settlement increasing by more than 5% 
from adoption of the plan. The settlement refers to the number of dwellings inside the defined 
settlement boundary.

 Development provides a significant community benefit;
 The design contributes to preserving and where possible enhancing the historic nature and 

connectivity of communities.
 The development avoids actual or perceived coalescence of settlements

Development for self build dwellings will be considered favourably subject to meeting the above 
criteria.

Reasoned Justification

In line with the Spatial Development Strategy and Settlement Hierarchy, the level of new development 
permitted in settlements defined in Policy PD05A will restricted, consistent with the rural character of 
these villages and reflects the more limited service provision and infrastructure available. 

Development which facilitates self-build dwellings will be considered favourably, subject to meeting 
the criteria set out within the policy.

15



Planning applications will be expected to be accompanied by a supporting statement. The supporting 
statement will be treated as any other planning application document and subject to publication.. The 
statement will seek to address the following key areas:

1. Justification that the proposal will provide a significant community benefit. 

Applicants should demonstrate in their statement that there is clear evidence that development will 
provide a community benefit; by meeting an identified local need, delivering community aspirations or 
by virtue of local support for a scheme. This can be done in many ways and the scale of evidence 
necessary will generally depend on the size and scale of the proposal and its potential impacts. 
Where the developer can demonstrate that there is appropriate support by the parish council, this will 
be a material consideration in favour of the scheme.

Evidence could comprise:
 Demonstration of local support e.g.

o the views of the parish council, 
o robust surveys of local opinion prepared independently.

 Demonstration of conformity with a policy/policies in an adopted Neighbourhood Plan or 
delivering a community aspiration identified in an adopted Neighbourhood Plan;

 Provision of a community facility, asset or financial contributions towards such facilities which 
meet an identified need established in documentation such as a Parish or Neighbourhood 
Plan

 Demonstration of local need e.g.
o a local housing needs assessment
o an employment needs assessment 

Development proposals which fail to demonstrate a significant benefit to the local community will not 
be permitted. 

2. Justification that the applicant can demonstrate to the Council that the proposal is of 
appropriate scale and design. 

Proposals must be of a size, design and scale that seek to meet an identified need and respects the 
setting. Careful siting, massing, use of surrounding landscape features and screening are important 
as is the enhancement of existing local characteristics. The statement should demonstrate how the 
site is connected to the surrounding settlement. In areas of greater landscape visibility sensitive 
design and landscaping is particularly important. The Council’s development management service will 
be able to provide further guidance and comment on emerging schemes.

16



Policy PD05B – Small villages and hamlets outside of settlement boundaries

Reasoned Justification

Breckland is a large, rural district which contains a high number of small villages and hamlets with 
little or no service provision. For those areas with 2 or fewer of the services / facilities, settlement 
boundaries have been removed on the basis that this limits development in locations where it is 
unsustainable for additional growth. However, having regard to local distinctiveness, it must be 
recognised that in areas outside of the settlement hierarchy, i.e. the areas regarded as open 
countryside, there are living and working communities whose social and economic viability must be 
addressed. 

Policy PD05B seeks to address the development needs of these communities whilst minimising the 
impact on the countryside by allowing small scale and appropriate development to meet local needs 
through criteria based policy. Development will be carefully managed in line with PD05B, in a manner 
which is more restrictive than for those named settlements with boundaries.

Planning applications will be expected to be accompanied by a supporting statement. The supporting 
statement will be treated as any other planning application document and subject to publication.. The 
statement will seek to address the following key areas:

1. Justification that the proposal as seen represents either infill or rounding off in the listed 
settlements. 

Infill is defined as: building taking place on a vacant plot in an otherwise built-up street frontage.

To be considered infill, a development will generally have built development along the road on either 
side of the site and be similar to adjacent properties in terms of its visual impact, plot size, dwelling 
size, floor levels and scale;

Rounding off is defined as: the completion of an incomplete group of buildings on land which is 
already partially developed and in such a way which will either complete the local road pattern or 
define and complete the boundaries of the group. Such rounding off should not change or distort the 
character or tradition of the group or the settlement in any undesirable way.

PD05B - New Residential and Employment Opportunities in Smaller Villages and Hamlets 
outside of defined settlement boundaries

Development in smaller villages and hamlets outside of defined settlement boundaries will be 
limited apart from in exceptional circumstances, where all of the following criteria are satisfied:

 The development comprises of sensitive infilling and rounding off of a cluster of dwellings 
with access to an existing highway.

 It is minor development of an appropriate scale and design to the settlement of up to 3 
units;

 It can be demonstrated that there is appropriate support by the parish council;
 The design contributes to enhancing the historic nature and connectivity of communities.
 The proposal does not harm or undermine a visually important gap that contributes to the 

character and distinctiveness of the rural scene;

Development for self build dwellings will be considered favourably subject to meeting the above 
criteria.

Farmsteads and sporadic small scale groups of dwellings are considered as lying in the open 
countryside and are not classed as small villages and hamlets. These and isolated locations in 
the countryside, are unlikely to be considered acceptable.

17



To be considered as rounding off the statement must address:
 Whether the perimeter of the site is already built up;
 Whether development would represent an outward expansion of the settlement;
 The strength and durability of boundary features to the open countryside and;
 The relationship with the existing settlement in terms of size, scale and density and its impact 

on local views.

It is important to note that not all sites which satisfy the above definitions of infill and rounding off will 
be suitable for development. Other factors which may affect the impacts of new dwellings include 
highways and access, landscape, flood risk, biodiversity, impacts on the SPA and impact on built 
heritage such as listed buildings and these, and other material considerations remain as part of the 
assessment process

18



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Bambridge - Executive Member for Growth
To: Local Plan Working Group – 17th March 2017

Author: Jemma March – Principal Planning Policy Officer (Capita)

Subject: Water Cycle Study Update (WCS)

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to advise Members of the content of the Water 
Cycle Study Update

Recommendation(s): 

1) It is recommended that Members note the Water Cycle Study Update (WCS) as evidence to 
support the Local Plan and publish the WCS on the Council’s website. 

1.1 Background

1.2 The Council published the first Water Cycle Study (WCS) in 2010 which assessed growth 
as planned in the Local Development Framework for implications on the water environment 
and water infrastructure provision in the District. The Local Plan proposes a new growth 
strategy and consequently the Water Cycle Study Update was commissioned to address 
the revised growth targets and detailed options and preferred sites identified in the 
emerging Local Plan.

1.3 The National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) sets a requirement for Local Plans to plan 
positively for the development and infrastructure required in the area. Furthermore para 162 
states: “Local Planning Authorities should work with other authorities and providers to: 
assess the quality and capacity of infrastructure for transport, water supply, wastewater and 
its treatment, energy (including heat), telecommunications, utilities, waste, health, social 
care, education, flood risk and coastal change management, and its ability to meet forecast 
demands”. 

1.4 The WCS also assesses compliance with the Water Framework Directive, to ensure that 
growth, through abstraction of water for supply and discharge of treated wastewater does 
not prevent waterbodies in Breckland (and more widely) from achieving the objectives of 
the Water Framework Directive (WFD).

1.5 The Water Cycle Study addresses the requirements set in the NPPF and the WFD, 
presenting a technical assessment of water supply, resources and infrastructure. The WCS 
Update has been developed through consultation with Anglian Water Services (AWS) and 
the Environment Agency (EA). This evidence informs the Infrastructure Delivery Plan and 
therefore forms a key part of the evidence base to support Breckland’s Local Plan.

1.6 Key Findings of the WCS

1.7  The Water Cycle Study assessed existing commitments and completions in addition to the 
proposed growth in the Local Plan over the plan period (2011-2036). The study additionally 
considered the planned growth beyond the plan period which includes a portion of the 
allocation for Thetford and Attleborough. The key findings are as follows:

19

Agenda Item 8



1.8 Wastewater Treatment and water quality

1.9  All Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTWs) are issued with a permit to discharge by the 
Environment Agency, which sets out conditions on the maximum volume of treated flow 
that it can discharge and also limits on the quality of the treated flow. These limits are set to 
protect the water quality and ecology of the receiving water body. They also dictate how 
much flow can be received by each WwTW, as well as the type of treatment processes to 
be used at the WwTW.

1.10 The WCS has assessed the impact of the growth proposed in the Local Plan on 
WwTWs and  determined  that additional treatment capacity will be required at four 
Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW) serving the District. Improvements or new 
discharge permits are required at these WwTW to ensure that water quality targets, set to 
meet the requirements of European legislation such as the Water Framework Directive 
(WFD) and Habitats Directive (HD) are not exceeded within the rivers which will receive the 
additional treated wastewater flow. This affects growth proposed in Attleborough, Dereham, 
Garboldisham (Elm Grove) and Watton. 

1.11 Improvements required at the WwTW serving Watton and Garboldisham (Elm 
Grove) are relatively straightforward and readily achievable within the limits of conventional 
treatment methods and would not present a barrier to growth, nor affect phasing of 
development in these locations. Both would require process upgrades at the WwTWs to 
allow revised discharge permits. 

1.12 In terms of the allocation of Attleborough SUE, there is no immediate constraint to 
growth. Attleborough WwTW has available flow headroom in the discharge permit to enable 
growth of 1,800 dwellings (from the 4,000 allocated). The planned phasing of the SUE 
means that there would not be an issue with capacity until the year 2030, which ties in with 
the next Anglian Water Investment Plan. Current capacity at Dereham WwTW is more 
limited, but due to a number of planning applications for strategic sites being submitted in 
advance of the Local Plan process, solutions are currently being explored to enable growth. 
The WCS shows available headroom at both Matishall WwTW and Bylaugh WwTW which 
serves Bawdeswell and Swanton Morley. There is potential for either WwTWs to receive 
additional wastewater, in excess of that received by their own catchment. This could be 
achieved by a piped network, however potential solutions for any development site would 
be subject to further discussion between the EA, AWS and Breckland Council.  

1.13 The preferred solution for Dereham is for the continued management of treatment 
headroom through several measures including: reducing water use (and hence wastewater 
generation) within the existing property in the town; and, monitoring changes in occupancy 
rate.

1.14 The WCS highlights the long term solution for both Attleborough and Dereham 
WwTWs is to utilise non-conventional methods to improve treatment quality on discharge. 
Trial testing of advanced technologies (both by AWS and national water companies) is 
showing positive results and therefore is likely to feature in the next investment plan by 
Anglian Water Services (2020 – 2025). The WCS presents a workable solution which has 
been agreed by both the EA and AWS. Policies in the Local Plan for Dereham and 
Attleborough will require development proposals to be accompanied by a pre-development 
enquiry with AWS to demonstrate that sufficient capacity is available to treat wastewater 
from the proposals.     

1.15 Chapter 3.2 of the WCS presents detailed information on the ecological 
assessment, flood risk assessment and solutions required to accommodate additional 

20



growth for the four areas.

1.16 Wastewater network capacity

1.17 In considering capacity in the network to move wastewater from new development 
to the WwTW’s, the WCS identifies that the majority of sites proposed in the plan would 
require upgrades. The WCS identifies the settlements of Matishall, Yaxham and Old 
Buckenham as exceptions, where only some of the sites would require upgrades. The WCS 
lists each settlement and the preferred and reasonable alternative sites in Chapter 5 and 
assigns each site a RAG rating (red, amber, green) to illustrate where upgrades would be 
required. The study recommends that all applications for development proposals for sites 
highlighted with a potential constraint are accompanied by a pre-development enquiry with 
Anglian Water to demonstrate that sufficient capacity is available to transfer wastewater for 
treatment and to demonstrate where a developer needs to financially contribute to that 
position. This could be achieved by adding a clause to final policies in the Local Plan for 
specific sites.

1.18 Water Supply

1.19 Resource Availability – Anglian Water confirms that the level of growth assessed in 
the WCS update has been factored into the current Water Resources Management Plan 
which has been approved by the Environment Agency (EA) and DEFRA. Due to the 
restrictions on water abstraction managed by the EA, Anglian Water seeks to manage 
strategic resources using a twin track approach. Short term demand management will be 
attained by reduction in consumption via water efficiency measures in addition to reduction 
of leakage in the supply network. In the long term the preferred option is to create a winter 
storage reservoir in the Norfolk Fens.

1.20 Efficiency –The WCS recommends consideration of a policy to contribute to 
management of demand from the existing population in the District to complement the 
approach in Anglian Water Services Water Resources Management Plan. Appendix D.6 of 
the WCS presents financial cost considerations for water neutrality scenarios. As a policy 
on water efficiency has not been presented in previous versions of the Local Plan, it has not 
been factored into the work on viability testing. Due to the advanced stage of the Local Plan 
it may be preferable to provide some additional wording to relevant proposed development 
management policies adapted from the Preferred Directions document, to ensure that water 
efficiency is considered in the design of new development, as opposed to a stand alone 
new policy which has not been subject to consultation previously. 

1.21 Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP)

1.22 The Draft Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) identifies the infrastructure requirements 
to deliver growth proposed in the Breckland District Local Plan over the plan period (to 
2036). The full version of the draft IDP was presented to members at the Working Group 
Meeting on 3rd February 2017. The IDP is a ‘living’ document and therefore the chapter on 
Water has been updated to reflect the findings of the WCS. An extract of the IDP is 
attached as Appendix 1 to this report. The IDP is a developing document which is not 
currently published on the website. The final version of the IDP will be subject to Member’s 
consideration prior to publication, therefore the attached wording is provided for information 
only at this stage.

1.23 Conclusion

1.24 The WCS Update demonstrates that the growth proposed in the plan is deliverable 
with respect of the water environment and water infrastructure. Individual solutions are 

21



detailed in the WCS for the four areas of Attleborough, Dereham, Garboldisham (Elm 
Grove) and Watton to enable the full planned growth to be achieved. The WCS Update 
comprises a key piece of the evidence base to support the Local Plan and interlinks with 
the wider Infrastructure Delivery Plan.

1.25 RECOMMENDATION

1.26 It is recommended that the Water Cycle Study Update forms part of the evidence 
base for the Local Plan and is published on the website.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 There are two options available:

2.2 Option 1 - Members agree for the Water Cycle Study Update to be published on the 
website and form part of the evidence base for the Local Plan. 

2.3 Option 2 - Members do not accept the findings of the Water Cycle Study Update and do not 
publish the WCS. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 Option 1 is recommended as the Water Cycle Study is an important piece of evidence 
which supports Breckland’s Local Plan and fulfils requirements set out in the National 
Planning Policy Framework. The document demonstrates that due consideration had been 
given to the water resources and infrastructure required to support growth in the plan.

3.2 Option 2 is not recommended at this stage of the plan process as it is likely to delay 
submission of the Local Plan or risk the plan being found ‘unsound’ at examination as it 
would not be possible to demonstrate that due consideration had been given to the water 
resources and infrastructure required to support growth in the plan and therefore the plan 
would fail to meet the requirements outlined in the National Planning Policy Framework.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The NPPF requires Local Authorities to prepare Local Plans. The Study forms an essential 
part of the evidence base for the Local Plan and demonstrates that requirements set in the 
National Planning Policy Framework have been met. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

22



5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The Local Plan aligns with corporate priority: Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive; 
providing the right services at the right time and in the right way; developing the local 
economy to be vibrant with continued growth and enabling stronger, more independent 
communities. The production also aligns with the priority of enabling effective planning and 
delivery of housing solutions to meet local needs.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards in Breckland will be affected by the Local Plan

7.0 ACRONYMS 

 AWS: Anglian Water Services
 DEFRA: Department for Environment, Food and Rural Affairs
 EA: Environment Agency
 IDP: Infrastructure Development Plan
 NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework
 SUE: Sustainable Urban Extension
 WCS: Water Cycle Study
 WFD: Water Framework Directive

23



 WwTW: Wastewater Treatment Works

Background papers:-

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Steve Ottewell, 
Email: stephen.ottewell@urbanvision.org.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix 1:                       
Extract: Infrastructure  Delivery 
Plan – Chapter 3 Water
Appendix 2: Water Cycle Study 
Update

24



1

Appendix 1 Extract from Infrastructure Delivery Plan: Chapter 3 - Water

3. Water 

Water Evidence Base
Owner Document Date
AW Consultation Response to Breckland Local Plan – Interim Consultation 2016
BDC Strategic Flood Risk Assessment 2017
BDC Water Cycle Study 2017
BDC Sequential Test 2017

Water Cycle Study

3.1. A detailed Water Cycle Study (WCS) was originally completed for Breckland District 
Council in 2010 and assessed growth as planned in the Local Development Framework (LDF) for 
implications on the water environment and water infrastructure provision in the District. With a 
revision to the growth strategy proposed for the subsequent Local Plan development in 2015, an 
update to the assessment of water environment and water infrastructure provision was required, 
taking into account differences in growth targets and locations as well as changes in infrastructure 
capacity and planning to that assessed in 2010. The update was completed in 2017 following 
further work to align both the WCS and SFRA with proposals in the submission version of the 
Local Plan. Extracts from the WCS Executive Summary provide an overview of the key 
infrastructure constraints and solutions in the District. Additional evidence has been provided 
from the response to consultations on the Local Plan by Anglian Water (regional water authority). 

Wastewater treatment works

3.2. Wastewater treatment in the District is provided by Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTWs) 
operated by Anglian Water, all of which discharge to surface watercourses. Each WwTW is fed 
by a network of wastewater pipes (the sewerage system) which drains wastewater generated by 
each property to the treatment works. Due to the dispersed nature of development within the 
District (and the costs and energy required to pump wastewater over large distances), most 
settlements have their own WwTW hence a large number are affected by growth proposals. 

3.3. Assessment of the revised growth locations and numbers has demonstrated that additional 
treatment capacity will be required at four Wastewater Treatment Works (WwTW) serving the 
District as a result of additional wastewater likely to be generated by the proposed growth. 
Improvements or new discharge permits are required at these WwTW to ensure that water quality 
targets, set to meet the requirements of European legislation such as the Water Framework 
Directive (WFD) and Habitats Directive (HD) are not exceeded within the rivers which will 
receive the additional treated wastewater flow. This affects growth proposed in Attleborough, 
Dereham, Garboldisham (Elm Grove) and Watton (described in more detail under area 
subheadings). 

Wastewater network capacity

25



2

3.4. Policies in the plan for the majority of sites would require at least some upgrades to the piped 
wastewater network to increase capacity with the exception of Mattishall, Yaxham and Old 
Buckenham where only a few sites would require upgrades. 

3.5. It is recommended that Local Plan policies for all sites in identified locations specify that 
development proposals for sites highlighted with a potential constraint are accompanied by a pre-
development enquiry with Anglian Water to demonstrate that sufficient capacity is available to 
transfer wastewater for treatment and to demonstrate where a developer needs to financially 
contribute to that provision.

Water resource availability

3.6. Raw water availability within the District is currently limited and issuing of licences to 
abstract water from the District’s rivers and underlying aquifers is restricted by the Environment 
Agency in all conditions expect high river flows. As a result, supply of water for additional 
demand from new development is dependent on strategic management of resources by Anglian 
Water Services. 

3.7. Anglian Water has set out how future demand in the District will be met as part of its current 
Water Resources Management Plan (2015). A twin-track approach is proposed whereby existing 
demand is managed and new supply sources are provided. Demand would be managed through a 
reduction of leakage within the supply network and through reductions in consumption via water 
efficiency measures. The preferred option for additional resources is a winter storage reservoir in 
the Norfolk Fens in the longer term. 

3.8. Anglian Water Services has confirmed that the level of growth assessed within the WCS 
update is factored into the current Water Resources Management Plan which has been approved 
by the Environment Agency and Defra. The WCS update therefore concludes that a sufficient 
sustainable water supply is available to meet planned demand without impacting adversely on the 
environment.

Water efficiency 

3.9. Water availability within the District is finite and that, to compliment proposals within 
Anglian Water Service’s Water Resources Management Plan, consideration is given towards 
minimising water use in planned development through the use of development control policy and 
contributing to management of demand from the existing population within the District. To set out 
how this could be achieved, the WCS has considered the feasibility of attaining a ‘water neutral’ 
position in the District, whereby the District’s total demand for water at the end of the plan period 
is equal to (or less than) current demand levels in 2016. The assessment demonstrated that water 
neutrality is theoretically attainable by the end of the plan period, but would require new 
development to be built to the highest efficiency specifications based on technologies (such as 
greywater recycling) which are not yet widely adopted in the UK. It would also require an 
extensive and expensive programme of retrofit of water use control measures and systems to 
existing properties throughout the District, for which a funding source has not been identified. 

3.10. Although water neutrality is unlikely to be a feasible option for the District, the WCS update 
has provided a ‘pathway’ for how the District could move towards a more neutral position, 

26



3

including requirements for policy, funding and technological requirements and has made a 
recommendation that consideration is given to a policy for new development being built to the 
optional Building Regulations standards for water efficiency in some locations, particularly where 
this could also contribute to a reduction in wastewater treatment pressures, such as Dereham.

Site Specific solutions

3.11. The WCS has assessed growth proposed in the district. This section provides more detailed 
information for growth locations highlighting the individual solutions required to accommodate 
proposed development in the Local Plan. 

Attleborough

Waste Water Treatment Works 

3.12. Attleborough WwTW has some available flow headroom in its existing discharge permit and 
can accept growth of approximately 1,800 dwellings (from the 4,000 allocated), after which the 
volumetric discharge permit will be exceeded.

3.13.  When considering all growth at the end of the plan period for Attleborough, the WwTW 
would require the implementation of new and improved treatment technologies to ensure that 
water quality in the receiving river can continue to meet the required legislative targets. 

3.14. Anglian Water Services (in conjunction with water companies nationally) are currently 
undertaking a programme of treatment trials to test enhanced technology aimed at achieving 
improved treatment quality on discharge. The outcome of trials to date suggests that treatment 
quality required to meet in-stream water quality targets will be attainable and that in the next 
water company investment period (2020 to 2025), these solutions could be implemented. This 
suggests that a workable solution in the long term can be achieved to ensure that growth proposed 
for Attleborough is sustainable. In the short to medium term (to 2022), sufficient capacity is 
available to serve the initial planned phasing of growth proposed in Attleborough.

Ecological Assessment

3.15. A review of hydrologically linked Habitats Directive site has determined that there are no 
sites downstream of the discharge point that would be affected by water quality changes as a 
result of the preferred solution.

Flood Risk

3.16. Assessment of the hydraulic capacity of the River Thet to cope with additional flow 
concluded that the additional flow would have a negligible effect on flood levels and extent for all 
assessed flood events (up to the 1 in 100 year with an allowance for climate change).

Dereham

Waste Water Treatment Works

27



4

3.17. The long term solution for Dereham WwTW is for the continued management of treatment 
headroom through several measures including: reducing water use (and hence wastewater 
generation) within the existing property in the town; and, monitoring changes in occupancy rate. 
If headroom is exceeded, enhanced treatment technologies as proposed for Attleborough would be 
considered to ensure downstream water quality targets are met. The overall solution requires 
ongoing discussion between Breckland District Council, the Environment Agency and Anglian 
Water Services. The WCS update recommends that all applications for development proposals in 
Dereham are accompanied by a pre-development enquiry with Anglian Water Services to 
demonstrate that sufficient capacity is available to treat wastewater from the proposals. 

3.18. A number of planning applications for major residential development on sites identified in the 
Local Plan have been submitted prior to completion of the plan. The favoured solution for waste 
water treatment in the short term is to link sites using a piped network to the existing Waste Water 
Treatment Works at Bylaugh which treats Swanton Morley and Bawdeswell  as this currently has 
capacity (as evidenced in the WCS). Negotiations are ongoing as the planning applications have 
not yet been determined. Anglian Waters latest consultation response to the Local Plan (Oct 16) 
indicates that it is important that the timing of planned development is understood and if necessary 
phased in order to serve the proposed growth, dependant on solutions proposed. 

Ecological assessment

3.19. Wendling Beck is a tributary of the River Wensum SAC which is approximately 8.5km 
downstream of Dereham WwTW. The Environment Agency RoC process has led to 
improvements to many of the WwTW’s within the River Wensum catchment to reduce phosphate 
concentrations. 

3.20. Should the proposed solution for the Dereham WwTW catchment (as detailed above) prove 
insufficient to supply treatment headroom, it is likely that a scheme similar to that proposed at 
Attleborough would be required to provide treatment using non-conventional methods, to allow 
the WwTW to meet a more stringent P permit condition. A combination of these measures should 
be sufficient to ensure no detriment to the River Wensum SAC. Should the housing targets 
proposed increase significantly beyond those proposed in the Local Plan, then this position would 
need to be reviewed.

Flood Risk 

3.21. Assessment of the hydraulic capacity of the Wendling Beck to cope with additional flow 
concluded that the additional flow would have a negligible effect on flood levels and extent for all 
assessed flood events (up to the 1 in 100 year with an allowance for climate change).

Watton

Waste Water 

3.22.  Watton WwWT has available flow headroom in its existing discharge permit for 19 
dwellings. Water Quality monitoring has shown that in order to maintain the current WFD status 
of the Watton Brook with predicted volumes (from new connections), the permit conditions on 

28



5

discharge quality for BOD and ammonia should be tighter. AWS have confirmed planned 
investment, including a revised ammonia permit by April 2017 which will require process 
upgrades at Watton WwTW.

3.23. Improvements required at the WwTW serving Watton are relatively straightforward and 
readily achievable within the limits of conventional treatment methods and would not present a 
barrier to growth, nor affect phasing of development for sites in Watton.

Flood Risk  

3.24. The physical capacity of Watton Brook is likely to be sufficient to accommodate the 
additional wastewater discharge generated by the growth in the town, without increasing flood 
risk downstream.

Snetterton

3.25. In response to the Local Plan Interim consultation, Anglian Water has indicated potential 
issues with the proposed employment allocations at Snetterton Heath. The foul flows from future 
growth will have an impact on the existing foul sewerage network and all sites will require a local 
connection to the existing sewerage network. There is insufficient capacity in the foul sewerage 
network to accommodate the proposed major employment site allocations; as such substantial off-
site infrastructure will be required. The solution is to ensure developers liaise with Anglian Water 
to ensure they can make timely improvements in order to meet the additional demand. If 
necessary, this may affect the phasing of development.

Local Service Centres

3.26. Anglian Waters latest consultation response to the Local Plan (Oct 16) indicates that Ashill is 
also served by the Watton Water Recycling Centre and that it is important that the timing of 
planned development is understood and if necessary phased in order to serve the proposed growth.

Garboldisham (Elm Grove)

3.27. Waste Water 

3.28.  Garboldisham (Elm Grove WwTW has no available headroom in its discharge permit. Water 
quality modelling in the WCS show that in order to maintain the current water framework 
directive status of the Little Ouse with predicted discharge volumes (from new connections), a 
new permit condition should be set at 3.0mg/l mean limit for phosphate. Improvements required at 
the WwTW serving Garboldisham (Elm Grove) are readily achievable within the limits of 
conventional treatment methods and would not present a barrier to growth, nor affect phasing of 
development in this location.

East Harling

29



6

3.29. Anglian Water has an encroachment policy that sets out a risk based approach to 
developments that are in close proximity to any assets.  They indicated that the proposed 
allocation in East Harling for Land off Kenninghall Road is in close proximity to an existing 
pumping station. The policy for the site will dictate that the layout of the site should be adjusted 
so as not to encroach on the protection zone. Development should be located a minimum of 15 
metres from Pumping Stations. 

Summary Table 

3.30. The table below is taken from the Water Cycle Study Report which provides a red, amber, 
green (RAG) assessment of the WwTWs within the Breckland study area. Note the red rating for 
Great Hockham is due to discharge running to Watton WwTWs and does not relate to growth 
proposed in Great Hockham village in the Local Plan.

30



7

Figure 1 Summary of the RAG assessment of the WwTWs within the Breckland WCS study area, Breckland District 
Council Water Cycle Study Update, AECOM (March 2017)

31



BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge, Executive Member for Growth

To: Local Plan Working Group – 17th March 2017

Author: Sarah Robertson, Senior Planning Policy Officer (Capita)

Subject: Historic  Characterisation Study

Purpose: The purpose of this report is to inform Members of the Historic 
Characterisation Study and agree for its inclusion as part of the Local Plans 
evidence base. 

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Members note the contents of this report and agree for it to be included as part of the 
Local Plans evidence base, including being published on the website.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Members will be aware that as part of the preferred sites and settlement boundaries 
consultation in September/October 2016, objections were received from Historic England 
regarding the lack of historic evidence to support the Local Plan. The historic 
characterisation study has been developed in response to these objections and is attached 
at Appendix A of this report.

1.2 Breckland has a rich historic environment which includes over 1500 listed buildings, 51 
conservation areas, 127 scheduled monuments and 9 registered parks and gardens.  The 
study has been designed to set out the policy framework in which the historic environment 
is considered and assesses how this has impacted upon the assessment of sites within the 
Local Plan.

1.3 The methodology has been agreed with Historic England prior to work being undertaken on 
site assessments. Historic England has advised that the methodology will provide an 
appropriate approach for site selection. The methodology has been developed to take into 
account three key stages:

 Stage 1: Desktop assessment of sites
 Stage 2: Site Survey
 Stage 3: Evaluating Impact 

1.4 All preferred and alternative sites identified within the September consultation have been 
assessed through this methodology. Following the initial assessment, site visits have also 
been undertaken for all sites.  The assessment has also included a red amber green (RAG) 
rating for each of the sites, which indicate the following:

 Green – Limited impact upon the historic environment
 Amber – Local Plan policy for site will need to respond proactively to the 

requirements of the historic environment.
 Red -  Review allocation and consider its removal from the Local Plan

32

Agenda Item 9



1.5 It should be noted that just because a site has scored green within the RAG rating, it does 
not mean that there is no impact upon the historic environment, it means that there is a 
lesser impact upon the historic environment. Planning applications will still need to 
demonstrate that there is a full understanding of the surrounding landscape/townscape. 
Furthermore, the design of a scheme will impact upon the level of impact a site has and its 
associated acceptability.

1.6 The following sites have received a red rating in relation to their impact upon the historic 
environment; therefore it is proposed to remove them from consideration for allocation 
within the Local Plan. 

Settlement Site 
Reference

Preferred/ 
Alternative

Justification

Great 
Ellingham

LP[037]019 Preferred Gateway site into Great Ellingham. 
Development is likely to have a high impact 
upon key views to the north, south and west

LP[051]004 Alternative To achieve access to the site it would 
require the removal of a non-designated 
heritage asset, which would impact upon 
the street scene.

LP[051]008 Preferred Site would have a high impact on the 
landscape. The site has views od west 
church street, which is elevated. West 
Church street contains significant numbers 
of listed buildings.

Kenninghall

LP[051]010 Alternative Site would have a high impact on the 
landscape. It is a gateway location into 
Kenninghall. The site has views od west 
church street, which is elevated. West 
Church street contains significant numbers 
of listed buildings.

Litcham LP[054]005B Preferred Site is adjacent to Litcham Hall which is 
grade II listed. It is also adjacent to the 
Litcham conservation area. The elevation of 
the site is higher than the existing built 
development and would be prominent in a 
gateway location into the village.                                                                                                                                                                            

Mattishall LP[061]015 Preferred Site is in a prominent position within 
Mattishall surrounded by a number of 
designated heritage assets. Furthermore 
the are also non-designated heritage assets 
within the site. Development is likely to form 
harm to these heritage assets.

Old 
Buckenham

LP[074]006 Preferred Gateway site into Old Buckenham which is 
likely to have a high impact upon key views 
into the village to the north and west.

1.7 In relation to the Local Plan, a number of these sites have previously been discussed in 
relation to deliverability constraints. Of the preferred sites, at the last LPWG it was 
discussed removing the allocation for Great Ellingham as the committed development had 
significantly exceeded the proposed allocation for the village. Therefore the removal of the 
site on historic character grounds. Similarly for Litcham, the preferred site also has a 
highways objections and the Council were therefore required to look at alternative options. 

33



In Mattishall, the removal of site LP[061]015 was previously discussed, due to the 
increased housing numbers within the village means that the allocation would not be 
required. The two preferred allocations which have not previously been discussed are 
Kenninghall and Old Buckenham. The Council was previously unable to meet the housing 
requirement within Old Buckenham and the discussion of a policy based approach to meet 
the remaining housing numbers had previously been discussion. Site LP[074]006 was 
proposed to be designated for 10 dwellings, Historic England in their comments on the last 
consultation had raised significant concern that inadequate consideration of the historic 
environment made this site allocation unsound. It is considered that if this site is removed, 
the policy based approach could be extended to accommodate a further reduction in 
housing numbers.

1.8 One of the preferred sites in Kenninghall is also proposed for removal based on impact on 
the historic environment. Site LP[051]008 was proposed for 20 dwellings. Historic England 
in their comments on the last consultation had raised significant concern that inadequate 
consideration of the historic environment made this site allocation unsound. The removal of 
the site on the basis of impact on historic character would lead to an under allocation in 
Kenninghall in comparison to the housing target. It is proposed that a policy based 
approach for housing development would be a suitable approach within the Local Service 
Centre. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 There are two options available to Members:

    Option 1: Members resolve to endorse the Historic Characterisation Study as 
evidence base support the Local Plan and agree its publication on the Council’s 
website.

    Option 2: Members do not resolve to endorse the Historic Characterisation Study.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 It is recommended that Members agree option 1 and  endorse the historic characterisation 
study as evidence to support the Local Plan and agree its publication on the Councils 
website. The study provides robust evidence on the historic character of Breckland. It also 
responds directly to Historic England’s objections to the preferred sites and settlement 
boundary consultation regarding lack of evidence.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The expected benefit of endorsing this study is that it will provide a robust evidence base 
for the assessment of site allocations within the Local Plan. Furthermore, it will also help to 
alleviate Historic England’s objections to the plan,

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.2 Constitution & Legal

5.2.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

34



5.3 Contracts

5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.4 Corporate Priorities

5.4.1 The study supports the Local Plan. The Local Plan aligns with the following corporate 
priorities: Supporting Breckland to develop and thrive; providing the right services at the 
right time and in the right way; developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued 
growth and enabling stronger, more independent communities. The production also aligns 
with the priority of enabling effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet 
local needs.

5.5 Crime and Disorder 

5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights

5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.7 Financial 

5.7.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.8 Health & Wellbeing

5.8.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.9 Risk Management 

5.9.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications

5.10 Safeguarding

5.10.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.11 Staffing

5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.

5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales

5.12.1 The methodology for the study was agreed with Historic England prior to the assessment 
being undertaken.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 This report impacts upon all  settlements which will be allocated growth through the Local 
Plan i.e. Attleborough, Dereham, Swaffham, Watton, Ashill, Banham, Bawdeswell, 
Garboldisham, Great Ellingham, Harling, Hockering, Kenninghall, Litcham, Mattishall, 
Narborough, Necton, North Elmham, Old Buckenham, Shipdham, Sporle and Swanton 
Morley.

35



7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 LPWG: Local Plan Working Group

Background papers:- See The Committee Report Guide

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Sarah Robertson – Senior Planning Policy Officer
Telephone Number: 01362 656 857
Email: sarah.robertson@capita.co.uk

Key Decision: No 

Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Historic Characterisation Study

36

%5CBCF01Democratic%20ServicesCommitteeCommitteeReport%20Guide2014THE%20COMMITTEE%20REPORT%20GUIDE_JUNE%202014.doc


BRECKLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL 
 
Report of: Cllr Gordon Bambridge - Executive Member for Growth 
 
To: Local Plan Working Group 17.03.17 
 
Author: James Mann, Planning Policy Officer 
 
Subject: Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities study Final 
 
Purpose: The purpose of this report is to advise Members of the content of the Indoor 

and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities study.  
 
 
Recommendation(s): It is recommended that Members consider the content of this report, 
and agree for the Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities study to form part of 
the Councils evidence base for the Local Plan, which will be published on the website.  
 
Background 
 
1.1 Stage 1 of the Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities Study was presented to 

Local Plan Working Group on the 21st of February 2017, outlining the purpose of the study, 
the methodology, key findings for each of the facility types and the scope of Stage 2 of the 
report.  

1.2 Stage 1 of the report provided an assessment of indoor bowling centres, indoor tennis 
centres, health and fitness (gyms) and squash courts for the years 2016 and 2031.  

1.3 The report also provided the evidence base for swimming pools, sports halls and full size 
artificial grass pitches for 2016 setting out that Stage 2 of the report will carry out FPM work 
on both pools and halls to 2031.  

1.4 Members accepted the findings of Stage 1 of the study subject to the addition of further 
wording around the value of the village hall sport offering within the district. Additional 
wording has been provided within the report around the importance of village halls in 
providing additional and complementary facilities to the formal assessment of the need and 
provision for indoor sports halls. The full text (Paragraphs 1.3 to 1.9 of Appendix A) 
highlights the important role that village halls play in providing a very local and accessible 
venue for village residents of all ages to participate with other residents.   

 
Stage 2  
 
1.5 Stage two of the report seeks to ‘build a picture’ of the provision within the district based 

around location, quality, quantity and management. Modelling has been carried out for 
swimming pools and sports halls based on population projections and Local Plan preferred 
sites to inform conclusions, key issues and priorities in the framework of protect, enhance 
and provide up to 2031.  

1.6 The Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities Study is comprised of four separate 
documents: Appendix A is the main evidence base report; Appendix B sets out the audit, 
assessment and evidence base; Appendix C and Appendix D set out Sport England’s 
Facilities Planning Model Reports for Swimming Pools and Sports Halls respectively. 
Appendix A and Appendix B are amended versions of reports presented at Stage 1 based 
on new evidence set out in Appendix C and Appendix D.  

 
 
 
 
 

37

Agenda Item 10



2 
 

Swimming Pools 
 

1.7 In regards to swimming pools for 2016-31 the report examined key issues around:  
• The impact that the scale and location of the projected population growth from 2016 

to 31 has on the demand for swimming pools and the capacity of the existing 
venues to meet an increase in demand from population growth.  

• The impact of the ageing of the core resident population from 2016 to 2031.   
• The impact of the ageing of the existing swimming pools over the 2016-31 period.  

 
1.8 The FPM analysis is based on three separate modelling runs: 

• Run 1 – supply, demand and access to swimming pools based on the projected 
population in Breckland and the neighbouring authorities in 2016 and including 
known committed changes in the swimming pool supply in the neighbouring 
authorities 

• Run 2 – supply, demand and access to swimming pools in 2031 based on the 
projected change in population between 2016 – 2031 in Breckland, plus the 
neighbouring authorities and the residential development in  Breckland  

• Run 3 – as run 2 but also including the option to consider the need for a swimming 
pool in Swaffham opening by 2031. The rationale behind the inclusion of this run 
was based on the findings of part 1 of the study for 2016, which stated that “The 
areas of highest unmet demand outside the catchment area of a pool is in and 
around Swaffham and Watton.”  

 
Key Findings  
 
1.9 The full findings of the FPM report are set out in Appendix C and summarised in 

Appendices A and B.  
1.10 In 2016 and in 2031 some 70% of the total demand for swimming from Breckland residents 

is being met. All 100% of the unmet demand in 2016 is from location and demand located 
outside the catchment area of a pool, with this reducing to 98% in 2031.  

1.11 Unmet demand reflects the geographical size, the settlement pattern of the authority, the 
distances between the major settlements and due to the location of the two pool sites within 
the district.   

1.12 The areas of highest unmet demand outside the catchment area of a pool is in and around 
Swaffham with 130sq meters of water in 2016 increasing to 145sq meters of water in 2031. 
There is also unmet demand of around 100sq meters in Watton for both years.  

1.13 FPM assessment shows that there is sufficient demand based on projected population 
growth up to 2031 to consider the provision of a 20m x 4 lane pool (160sq meters of water) 
in Swaffham. This assessment does not support larger pool size with the most usual 
community pool size being 25m x 4 lanes (of between 210-250sq meters of water 
depending on lane width).  

 
 

Sports Halls  
 
1.14 In regards to sports halls for 2016-31 the report examined key issues around:  

• The impact that the scale and location of the projected population growth 
from 2016 to 2031 has on the demand for sports halls and the ability of the 
existing venues to meet this demand.  

• The impact of the ageing of the core resident population from 2016-to 2031.  
• The impact of the ageing of the existing sports halls over the period from 

2016 to 2031; the stock has an average age of 32 years in 2016.  
• The impact of population growth at specific sports hall sites/catchment 

areas.  

38



3 
 

 
1.15 The FPM analysis is based on four separate modelling runs: 

• Run 1 – supply, demand and access to sports halls based on the population 
in Breckland and the neighbouring authorities in 2016.This includes known 
committed changes in the sports hall supply in the neighbouring authorities.  

• Run 2 – as run 1 but also including the option to close the existing sports 
halls at Attleborough and Swaffham and open new sports halls on the same 
sites by 2020. The rationale being that the evidence base work to date 
identified a need for sports halls at these locations. The existing sports halls 
opened in 1981 at Swaffham and 1982 at Attleborough. The age, size and 
condition of the sports halls are limiting their use and attractiveness to 
participants. Given these findings, it was considered more beneficial to 
model the need for replacement sports halls at the current time with a 
projected replacement by 2020, rather than assume these centres could 
continue operating until 2031 and base the assessment of need on that date.   

• Run 3 – as run 2 but based on the projected population in 2031 in Breckland, 
plus the neighbouring authorities and the residential development in  
Breckland  

• Run 4 as run 3 but which also tests the option of a new sports hall in 
Dereham of 4 badminton court size, located at Northgate High School and 
opening by 2031.The rationale being the work to date has identified there 
may be a need for further sports hall provision in Dereham but the impact of 
population change up to 2031 should be part of that assessment; part 1 of 
the study stated that “the biggest cluster of unmet demand is in and to the 
north of Dereham. It is principally residents who do not have access to a car 
and live outside the walking catchment of the Dereham Centre and the 
school sports hall.”  

 
Key Findings  
 
1.16 The full findings of the FPM report are set out in Appendix D and summarised in 

Appendix A and B.  
1.17 82% of the Breckland total demand for sports halls is being met in 2016 with 78% of 

this total being met within the district. In 2031 the total met demand is 83% with 84% 
of this being met within the district.  

1.18 The FPM work illustrates that there is sufficient demand to justify the provision of a 
new sports hall in Attleborough to replace the existing Centre. The scale of the new 
sports hall from the assessment is for a 6 badminton court size sports hall of 34m x 
27m.  

1.19 There is also sufficient demand to justify the provision of a replacement sports hall in 
Swaffham. The scale of this new sports hall is based on the same number of 
badminton courts as the existing, but at a slightly larger scale, 34.5m x 20m, based 
on the Sport England and Governing Bodies of Sport specification.  

1.20 The modelling assessment was based on the closure of existing facilities and 
provision of new facilities at Attleborough and Swaffham by 2020. 

1.21 The assessment also identified the area of highest unmet demand for sports halls in 
both 2016 and 2031 is Dereham and to the north of Dereham. The findings from the 
FPM assessment do support the provision of a further sports hall of 4 badminton 
court size of 34.5m x 20m in Dereham, a suitable location being Northgate High 
School.  

 
 
 
 
 

39



4 
 

Summary of findings  
 
1.22 Sufficient demand to consider a 20m x 4 lane pool (160sq meters of water) in 

Swaffham in 2031.  
1.23 Sufficient demand to justify the provision of a replacement sports hall in Swaffham 

by 2020 based on the same number of badminton courts, but in line with latest 
specifications.  

1.24 Sufficient demand to justify the provision of a new 6 badminton court size sports hall 
in Attleborough, also by 2020. 

1.25 Further demand in Dereham and to the north of Dereham for a further 4 badminton 
court size sports hall in Dereham in 2031, with a suitable location being Northgate 
High School.  

 
Implications for the Local Plan 

 
1.26 The Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities study will help to inform 

policies within the Local Plan.  
1.27 It is proposed that Indoor Sport and Recreation is mentioned within the supporting 

text in the emerging Local Plan policies regarding Community Facilities and Healthy 
Lifestyles, and that this should explicitly set out the need to protect the existing 
facilities within the district.  

1.28 Considering the catchment area of each facility type it can be justified to reference 
indoor sport and recreation in the supporting text for the emerging Local Plan policy 
on Developer Contributions (E 06 in the Preferred Directions consultation).  

1.29 Based on the findings of this study a number of facilities are proposed to be 
categorised as desirable infrastructure projects within the Infrastructure Delivery 
Plan, which will sit alongside the Local Plan.  

1.30 Findings can also help to inform policies within Neighbourhood Plans where the 
evidence base is suggesting that improvements to community facilities can be 
justified.   

 
2.0 OPTIONS 
 
2.1 There are essentially two options available 
2.2 Option 1 – For members to consider the report and endorse it as a basis for the 

Local Plan policy and to integrate within the wider Infrastructure Delivery Plan (IDP) 
2.3 Option 2 – Members do not endorse the study as evidence for the local plan. 

 
3.0      REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION 
 
3.1      It is recommended that members note the content of this report and agree for the 

Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities study to form part of the evidence 
base to inform Local Plan Policies. The recommendation has been made in order to 
comply with requirements in the National Planning Policy Framework and to support 
the Local Plan preparation. 

 
3.2      Should members not support option 1 to publish the Indoor and Built Sports and 

Recreational Facilities study, this would pose a considerable risk at the examination 
of the Local Plan as there would be insufficient evidence to demonstrate that the 
plan is in conformity with the requirements set out in the NPPF.   

 
 
4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 
 
4.1       The NPPF requires Local Authorities to prepare Local Plans. The Study forms an 

40



5 
 

essential part of the evidence base for the Local Plan. The requirement to assess 
Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational facilities is set out in Paragraphs 73 and 
74 of the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) and is in line with Sport 
England Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance (ANOG). 
 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 
 
5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues 
 
5.1.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.2       Constitution & Legal 
 
5.2.1    It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.3 Contracts 
 
5.3.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.4 Corporate Priorities 
 
5.4.1 Publishing the  Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities study supports 

the work on the Local Plan and aligns with corporate priority: Supporting Breckland 
to develop and thrive; providing the right services at the right time and in the right 
way; developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth and enabling 
stronger, more independent communities. The production also aligns with the 
priority of enabling effective planning and delivery of housing solutions to meet local 
needs. 

 
5.5 Crime and Disorder  
 
5.5.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.6 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights 
 
5.6.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.7 Financial  
 
5.7.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
 
5.8 Health & Wellbeing 
 
5.8.1 Publishing the Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities study supports the 

important role that Indoor Sport provision plays in creating opportunities for healthy 
lifestyles and the definition of sustainable development within the National Planning 
Policy Framework.  
 

5.9 Risk Management  
 
5.8.2 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.  
 
5.10 Safeguarding 
 
5.10.1  It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications.  

41



6 
 

 
5.11 Staffing 
 
5.11.1 It is the opinion of the Report Author that there are no implications. 
  
5.12 Stakeholders / Consultation / Timescales 
 
5.12.1 Member’s discussion will help to inform the preparation of the pre-submission Local 
Plan.  
 
6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED 
 
6.1 The study has implications for all wards in Breckland. 
 
7.0 ACRONYMS  
 
7.1 Acronyms include 

• AGP: Artificial Grass Pitch 
• ANOG: Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance  
• FPM: Facilities Planning Model 
• NPPF: National Planning Policy Framework 

 
 
 
 

Background papers:-  

 
Lead Contact Officer 
Name and Post:  Steve Ottewell, Planning Policy Manager 
Telephone Number:  
Email: Stephen.Ottewell@urbanvision.org.uk 
 
Key Decision:  No  
 
Exempt Decision: No  
 
This report refers to a Mandatory Service  
 
Appendices attached to this report:  
Appendix A: Evidence Base for Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities  
Appendix B: Audit, Assessment and Evidence Base for Indoor and Built Sports and 
Recreational Facilities  
Appendix C: Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model Report Swimming Pools 
Appendix D: Sport England’s Facilities Planning Model Report Sports Halls 
 

 

 

42



 

 

 

 
 
 
 
Breckland Council 
 
Evidence Base for Indoor and Built 
Sports and Recreational Facilities  
 

March 2017  
 
 

                                                                                                 
 
 
 
 

 
 

Neil Allen Associates Registered Office:  
20 Brook Road, Lymm, Cheshire, WA13 9AH 

 
A limited company, registered in  

England and Wales no. 616528

43

https://www.google.co.uk/imgres?imgurl=http://www.wayland-chamber.org.uk/assets/brecklandcouncil.jpg&imgrefurl=http://www.wayland-chamber.org.uk/talkingshop/&docid=OEl5uP8sdcrKFM&tbnid=wC264dLO67lCuM:&w=300&h=260&bih=878&biw=1920&ved=0ahUKEwiF-K3r3uHPAhWF1RoKHda5BUAQxiAIAygB&iact=c&ictx=1


 
Contents 

 

 

 

 
 

Section 1: Introduction  & Context      1 
 
Section 2: Planning Context for Breckland                             3          
 
Section 3:  Assessing Needs & Opportunities for each Facility Type   14              

Section 4:  Planning Framework and Delivery     18 
   

 

Appendices 
Appendix 1: Full audit and assessment report for each sports facility type  

Appendix 2: Sport England facility planning model report for swimming pools  

Appendix 3: Sport England facility planning model report for sports halls  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

44



1: Introduction & Context 
 

 

 

 
1.1 In August 2016 Breckland Council commissioned naa to produce an evidence base for 

indoor sports and recreational facilities.  The evidence base requirement is to set out 
the current and future requirements for indoor sports and recreational facilities across 
Breckland 2016 – 2031.  The application of this evidence base will be used by the 
Council to inform its Infrastructure Delivery Plan which, in turn, will form part of the 
Council’s new Local Plan. It will also provide a stand-alone document in its own right. 

1.2 The evidence base has been developed for six facility types. These being, swimming 
pools, sports halls, indoor bowling centres, indoor tennis centres, health and fitness 
(gyms) and squash courts. The Council decided to apply the Sport England facility 
planning model (fpm) in the future assessment of need for swimming pools and sports 
halls.   This is because of the significance of these facility types in providing for the 
majority of indoor sports and physical activity participation as evidence by part 1 of the 
study?.  

1.3 The fpm assessment included options to change the supply of both swimming pools 
and sports halls up to 2031. This is based on findings identified in the stage 1 assessment. 
In effect it modeled options for both changing and increasing the supply of both 
facility types.  

1.4 . This evidence base report does also provide an assessment of need for AGPs as at 
2016, so there is a baseline assessment. 

1.5 The reasons for not progressing the AGP assessment as part of this project are for 
several reasons. Full size artificial grass pitches are increasingly part of the sports 
provision for schools and colleges. AGPs are an adaptable facility type providing for 
one match use over the whole pitch, or, sub division of the pitch to allow for three 
smaller playing areas. They provide for intensive use of up to 20 games a week, so long 
as the pitch surface is maintained and replaced every 8 – 10 years, depending on 
levels of use.   

1.6 All hockey competitions are now played on artificial grass. Most importantly the 
Football Association (FA) has developed a strategy to eventually transfer all affiliated 
football at the local level onto 3g artificial surface pitches. This will create a significant 
increase in the demand for 3g pitches. So understanding the needs in Breckland to 
accommodate this change in use and the implications for use of the other surface 
artificial grass pitches is very important. 

1.7 Given all these inter related issues, Breckland Council decided not to examine the 
future provision for AGPs within this study. It is recommended that this work in 
undertaking via a Playing Pitch Strategy which will consider the needs of all pitch sports 
and all types of pitch provision and surfaces. 

Further background and context to the development of the evidence base 

1.8 For the development of the evidence base up to 2031, Breckland Council decided it 
wished to apply the Sport England Facilities Planning Model (fpm) in the future 
assessment of need or swimming pools and sports halls up to 2031. The reasons being;   

•  Swimming pools and sports halls, based on Sport England research, account for 
between 60% - 70% of the total indoor sports and physical activity participation at 
the community level. Consequently there is considerably more research and 

45



1: Introduction & Context 
 

 

 

data on trends and profile of participation for these two most important facility 
types.  

• They represent the largest investment in indoor sports facilities by the Council 
through the PFI projects at Breckland Leisure Centre and Waterworld and 
Dereham Leisure Centre. Consequently understanding the future needs for these 
two important facilities and potential further need for swimming pools and sports 
halls across the authority  is very important; 

• The population of Breckland is projected to increase from 135,832 people in 2016 
to 149,769 people by 2031. This population increase, the scale and location of 
the new residential settlements and are important factors in the needs 
assessment.   Does the existing supply meet the future demand? Or, is there an 
increase in demand sufficient to consider additional provision either at the 
existing locations. or elsewhere? 

• Swimming pools are genuinely the only cradle to grave sports facility type. The 
participation rate and frequency of participation is spread across all age bands 
and both genders. It is one of few indoor sports facilities where female 
participation is higher than for males. Also swimming pools do provide for more 
family based activity than other facility types. It is also a facility type that is about 
physical activity and swimming for a health and active lifestyle benefit, as well as 
swimming as a sports activity. Finally learning to swim is a national curriculum 
requirement for children (up to key stage 2), so as to develop a safety skill for life. 
For all these reasons assessing the future need for swimming pools based on the 
current provision and projected growth in Breckland is important 

• Sports halls have a wide age range of participants with the main participation in 
the 16 – 44 age range. They provide for 12 or more individual court or racket 
sports as well as for martial arts and exercise and fitness classes. Participation is 
higher amongst males but use of sports halls for exercise and fitness classes’ 
appeals more to women. The peak period is extending to include recreational 
sports and low impact exercise classes from an increasing elderly population who 
prefer day time activity and cannot access education venues during the day. 
For all these reasons it is again important to understand the future needs for  
sports halls 

1.9 Village halls are not included in the evidence base but they do provide for a range of 
indoor community and physical activities that are not provided by formal indoor sports 
facilities. They are therefore an additional local community resource to the formal 
indoor sports facilities.   

1.10 Village halls tend to be available to the community on a widely accessible basis, 
usually by booking through the hall owners/managers, often Parish Councils or village 
hall management committees. Studies in a number of authorities have identified 
different approaches to needs assessments for village halls.  

1.11 South Somerset DC has adopted a standard of one small hall for every 250 people.  
Conversely, South Cambridgeshire DC in a study in 2010 adopted a guideline of 111m2 
per 1000 people.  In Central Bedfordshire, a more recent study in 2013 adopted a 
standard of provision in accordance with current supply of 180m2 per 1000 people.  This 
is considerably higher than in other studies, but takes into account all types 
‘community’ halls, such as uniformed organisations and church venues, not just those 
with the title village hall. 

46



1: Introduction & Context 
 

 

 

1.12 From a local community perspective most rural communities ideally require a 
convenient and safe access to a good standard building, for a variety of community, 
sporting and physical activities. 

1.13 In terms of sporting and physical activity, village halls are most usually used for carpet 
bowls, table tennis and badminton. They are however extensively used for dance and 
exercise classes as well as for martial arts.  Village halls make their biggest contribution 
in providing a very local and accessible venue for village residents of all ages to 
participate with other residents, in casual and informal recreation and physical activity. 
Village halls are a valuable local resource in developing and maintaining an active 
and healthy lifestyle for residents. 

1.14 An often held view is that the size, age and quality of the building, in terms of lighting or 
floor surface can be a barrier for sport and physical activity use of village halls. Studies 
in the local areas mentioned have shown this not to be the case. Residents and the 
activities adapt to the qualities of the building. Barriers are more likely to be competing 
activities for use of the building at the same time. Also finding enough residents to 
commit to say a 6 week programme of keep fit classes, so as to enable an instructor to 
be booked.  

1.15 Village halls should be considered as an additional local resource and facility for 
sporting and physical activity. In that way they are additional and complementary to 
the formal assessment of the need and provision for  indoor sports halls # 

Evidence base content, Appendices and sequence of reporting  

1.16   This report is the overarching evidence base report. It sets out   

• Section 2 – Planning context for Breckland – corporate and development 
planning.  Population change, participation and non-participation in sport and 
physical activity  

• Section 3 - Assessing Needs and Opportunities for each sports facility type – the 
methodology and its application 

• Section 4 – Planning Framework and Delivery under the headings of protect, 
enhance and provide for each of the facility types. 

1.17 There are three appendices and these are::    

• Appendix 1 Audit and assessment for each of six facility type. This is the full audit 
and assessment report for each facility type.  

• Appendix 2: Sport England facility planning model report for swimming pools 

• Appendix 3: Sport England facility planning model report for sports halls  

1.18 Appendix 1 - the audit and assessment - applies the Sport England methodology, 
Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance (ANOG) for all the facility types. This 
Appendix can also be applied in the development of feasibility studies, in matching 
the needs assessment to a long-term core and viable business case with a 
procurement route for a particular project.  Appendix 1 can also be used to inform the 
strategic and corporate planning work of Breckland Council, in the role indoor sports 
facilities play in contributing to an active and healthy lifestyle for Breckland residents.   

47



1: Introduction & Context 
 

 

 

1.19 Appendices 2 – 3 are free standing reports on the application of the Sport England 
facility planning model assessment of need for swimming pools and sports halls. The 
methodology applied in the fpm assessments are also consistent with Sport England’s 
ANOG guidance, also the National Planning Policy Framework (paragraphs 73 – 74) on 
the development of local assessments of need for sporting and recreational facilities.  
The fpm findings have been integrated into both this report and Appendix 1.  

48



 

 

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 1 
49



 
2: Planning Context for Breckland  

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 2 

 

2.1 This section sets out: 

• The Breckland strategic, corporate and development planning context for the 
study; 

• The current and projected changes in population in Breckland 2015 – 2031 and 
the impact on the demand for indoor sports facilities; and  

• Trends in participation and non-participation in sport and physical activity for 
Breckland, East Region and England wide. 

2.2 These findings provide the overall planning context for the sports facilities assessment. 

National and local development planning    

2.3 The national planning context for the project is the National Planning Policy Framework 
(NPFF). The key paragraphs from the NPPF which apply to the project are:    

• Section 8 which sets out national planning policy on ‘Promoting healthy 
communities’.  Within this section at paragraphs 73 and 74 the NPPF states that: 

- Paragraph 73 - Access to high quality open spaces and opportunities for 
sport and recreation can make an important contribution to the health and 
well-being of communities.  Planning policies should be based on robust 
and up-to-date assessments of the needs for open space, sports and 
recreation facilities and opportunities for new provision. The assessments 
should identify specific needs and quantitative or qualitative deficits or 
surpluses of open space, sports and recreational facilities in the local area. 
Information gained from the assessments should be used to determine what 
open space, sports and recreational provision is required” 

• Paragraph 74 - Existing open space, sports and recreational buildings and land, 
including playing fields, should not be built on unless: 

- an assessment has been undertaken which has clearly shown the open 
space, buildings or land to be surplus to requirements; or 

 
- the loss resulting from the proposed development would be replaced by 

equivalent or better provision in terms of quantity and quality in a suitable 
location; or 

 
- The development is for alternative sports and recreational provision, the 

needs for which clearly outweigh the loss. 
 

Planning framework and standards  

2.4 For many years, certainly since before Planning Policy Guidance Note on Sport, Open 
Space and Recreation was first produced in 1991, the ‘standards’ approach has been 
a fundamental part of planning and delivering future facility provision, on the basis of a 
per head level of provision e.g. 6 acres of recreational open space per 1000 people 
and more recently x m2 of sports hall space per 1,000 population.  

50



 
2: Planning Context for Breckland  

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 3 

2.5 This enabled an easy-to-calculate method of delivery, but was inflexible, difficult to 
manage and implement and generally ineffective in securing funding for indoor sports 
and recreational facilities.  More recent advice contained in the NPPF and from Sport 
England in the ANOG in 2014 is leading towards a new system based on a local needs 
assessment identifying future requirements allied to the population and sports 
participation in any particular area. 

2.6 This new system is derived from evidence of need, thorough assessment and 
consultation with stakeholders.   

Sport England: Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance  

2.7 In July 2014 Sport England published the Assessing Needs and Opportunities Guidance 
(ANOG). The guidance is intended to provide a recommended approach to 
developing an evidence base for indoor and built sports and recreational facilities at 
the community level. 

2.8 It replaced the withdrawn PPG 17 “Assessing needs and opportunities: a companion 
guide to PPG17” (DCLG, 2001) and provides guidance on how to deliver the NPPF at 
the local level. ANOG, focuses on the practicalities of producing a clear and robust 
assessment to help develop and apply local planning policy. The approach has been 
developed so that it can be tailored to apply to a range of sports facilities. All of these 
are included in the Breckland project and the work adopts and applies the ANOG 
guidance.  

Breckland Local Plan   

2.9 Breckland is currently preparing a new Local Plan to cover the period 2011 – 2036. To 
date the council has completed an Issues and Options Consultation (November 2014), 
a Preferred Directions Consultation (January 2016) and a Preferred Site Options and 
Settlement Boundaries Consultation (September 2016). The Council is preparing a Pre 
Submission Consultation for publication in the spring of 2017 

2.10 The responses to the Preferred Directions consultation in terms of the scope of the 
evidence base for indoor sports and recreational facilities project brief are summarized 
as (key issues highlighted, not necessarily each and every comment) 

• Greater Norwich Projects Team: A greater focus on indoor sports provision would 
also be welcomed. The plan refers to an audit of all open space provision 
identifying deficiencies which are proposed to be addressed through the plan 
but we have not found mention of the provision of indoor sports facilities. We are 
aware of local concerns regarding the capacity of facilities in nearby 
Wymondham that may be worsened by increased growth not only in 
Wymondham itself, but also in Attleborough and some of the LSCs. It is therefore 
important that the need for and supply of indoor sports facilities is addressed in 
the Breckland Local Plan, and assessing the potential impact of cross boundary 
use of existing facilities. 

• Attleborough Town Council: Lack of policy regarding sports and leisure/ informal 
open space. Planning policies should be based on robust and up to date 
assessments of the needs for open space, sport & recreation facilities and 
opportunities for new provision.  

• What Watton Wants:  Watton is completely restricted with its sports facilities due 
to the PFI arrangement with its exclusion zone which prevents Breckland Council 

51



 
2: Planning Context for Breckland  

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 4 

from supporting any competing activity within 10 miles of their facilities for further 
22 years. It would bring more people into Watton from the surrounding villages to 
use the facilities.   

2.11 These responses to the Preferred Directions Consultation have been considered in the 
development and compilation of the evidence base for indoor sports and recreational 
facilities.  

2.12  In 2008 Breckland Council commissioned Parkwood Leisure Services Consultancy to 
undertake a study and prepare a Leisure Facility Analysis report on the provision for 
outdoor and indoor sports and leisure facilities. The project scope included, playing 
pitches, artificial grass pitches, swimming pools and sports halls. It focused on a market 
assessment of current and future demand in each of the five main settlements.  

2.13 This study and its findings has now been overtaken in terms of methodology for needs 
assessments, as set out in the NPPF, plus the scale of future residential development 
across the authority. Furthermore, the age of the study means it would not meet Sport 
England’s guidance on the need for such strategies to be produced every three years 
for playing pitches 

2.14 The Breckland Local Plan Part 1 Preferred Directions (December 20015) Preferred Policy 
ENV 4 is about open space sport and recreation. It describes the existing provision and 
responses to the issues and options consultation. It then describes the preferred policy 
direction (pages 96 – 98). The content is about open space and recreational open 
space for outdoor sports. The policy does not refer to policies for indoor sports and 
recreational facilities. The evidence base developed for this project provides the basis 
for development of planning polices for indoor sports and recreational provision.  

2.15 This evidence base report covers the period 2016 – 2031. The reason being that 
projecting changes in the supply of sports facilities of closures, new commitments and 
modernisation of existing venues becomes much more challenging the longer the time 
period. Changes in supply not just openings and closures but also major modernisations 
can very much influence the spatial distribution of demand.  

2.16 Also, the demand for facilities and rates of participation do change. Table 2.2 below 
sets out how the rate of adult participation, based on the Sport England and Active 
People benchmark measure of adult once a week participation has changed in 
Breckland over the 2015 – 2016 period, along with East Region and national 
comparisons. This table shows the scale of these changes over this period. This table 
illustrates the challenges of projecting changes in participation in the future and over 
too long a time period. 

2.17 For these reasons of changes in supply and demand/participation Sport England 
consider it is prudent to develop an evidence base for no more than a ten to fifteen 
year period. Building into this assessment any known changes in supply and setting out 
the basis for demand/participation assessments. This evidence base is therefore based 
on the 2016 – 2031 period. It is recommended that the evidence base is reviewed in 
line with Local Plan review periods and is updated in five years’ time to cover the 
period 2031 – 2036. 

Breckland Strategic and Corporate Policy   

2.18 The Council has set out its vision and priorities for the authority in the Council’s 
Corporate Plan 2015 – 2019. The vision is that Breckland is a place of opportunity and 
ambition for all.  

52



 
2: Planning Context for Breckland  

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 5 

2.19 The priorities for delivery of the Council’s vision are: supporting Breckland to develop 
and thrive; providing the right services at the right time and in the right way; 
developing the local economy to be vibrant with continued growth; and enabling 
stronger more independent communities. 

2.20 Key content in the Council’s Corporate Plan and which has implications for the 
evidence base for indoor sports facilities are set out next. 

2.21 Corporate Plan key content 1 - Breckland spans over 500 square miles. Half of the 
current residents live in one of the five market towns with the remainder living in rural 
village homes. This means that the authority has a low population density. (Summary of 
page 4). 

2.22 The nature of the Breckland population in dispersed settlements with a low population 
density and considerable distances between main settlements, does pose a challenge 
for provision of indoor sports and recreational facilities.   

2.23 The implications of the authority’s main settlement pattern as described in the 
Council’s corporate plan s can be summarised as   

• Residents travel further to use the facilities – but Sport England research shows 
that to maintain and increase participation on a regular basis local accessibility is 
important.  The time and cost of travel plus the competing demands on time to 
do other activities which fit into the lifestyle of individuals and families can 
discourage participation; 

  
• Provide more facilities than may be needed in recognition of the settlement 

pattern of the authority and so create local accessibility. This however has a cost 
in providing and maintaining more facilities than may be needed. Moreover, 
there may not be a core business case to justify provision and provide a viable 
facility without extensive financial support. Provision is driven by the settlement 
patterns and lack of access, not the supply and demand and capacity of the 
existing facilities to meet the demand across Breckland. For example, the Sport 
England assessment of the annual throughout for a 4 lane x 25 metre swimming 
pool based on a for a 50 week year is 95,000 visits; and  

 
• Make more use of what already exists, by increasing access to facilities that exist 

but which maybe not fully accessible to the public or for clubs to use. This applies 
especially to facilities on school sites. In effect, it extends the supply base and 
catchment area. By doing so it addresses the settlement pattern and is trying to 
increase access to venues across a wider area and to more residents. 

 
2.24 The settlement pattern of Breckland and as set out in the Council’s Corporate Plan is 

important context in development of the evidence base in assessing, supply, demand 
and accessibility. This has been taken into full account in compiling the evidence base.  

2.25 Corporate Plan key content 2 - The Council’s priority of “enabling stronger more 
independent communities” has an action to - work with partners on supporting older 
people to remain active, participative and live independently within the community 
(page 9). 

2.26 Understanding the demographic profile of the authority and how this is changing over 
the Local Plan period is important, in identifying the sporting and physical activity 
population. As the resident population ages, the demand for particular indoor sports 
facilities changes, as does the reasons and levels of participation. So, it is about growth 

53



 
2: Planning Context for Breckland  

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 6 

in the total population but also the changes in the core resident population that makes 
up the demand profile. 

Population change and the sporting population  

2.27 In determining the current and future demand for sports facilities the changes in 
population are integral to that assessment. It is reasonable to assume that an absolute 
increase in population will led to an increase in the demand for sports facilities. 
However, it is important to consider the age structure of the population now and how 
this is projected to change up to 2031 and beyond across Breckland.   

2.28 It could be that the age structure of the population means that whilst there is a 
projected increase in absolute population numbers, the age structure of the 
population means there is a lower total number of people in the main age bands for 
sports participation in 2031 than in 2016. The reverse could equally apply. 

Current population 

2.29 The data used for the population assessment in Breckland is the Council’s population 
projections provided by the Council’s Planning Department (ONS 2014 based sub-
national population projections). The current (2016) population of Breckland is 
estimated at 135,832 people, of which 67,616 are male (49.7%) and 68,216 are female 
(50.3%).  The overall population structure is as follows (comparisons with Breckland 
extrapolated from Sport England’s Local Sport Profile and compared with the East 
Region and National averages):  

• Very slightly fewer percentage of males to females than regional and national 
average; 

• No difference in the percentage of people in the 16-19 age group than the 
regional or national average; 

• Very slightly higher percentage of people in the 20-24 age group than the 
regional average (by 0.5%) and very slightly lower percentage than nationally 
(by 1%); 

• Very slightly higher percentage of people in the 25-34 age group than regional or 
national averages of % - 2%); 

• Lower percentage of people in the 35 – 49 age group (by 3.5%) than regional or 
national averages; 

• Lower percentage of people in the 50-64 age group than regional or national 
averages; (by 1% - 2%); and 

• Higher percentage of people in the 65+ age group (by 3%) than regional or 
national averages. 

2.30  There are also the following:  

• A much higher proportion of white or white British than regional average (by 6%) 
or national average (by 11%). Note no data for Breckland for 2015 and so the 
data is for 2012 for all areas; and 

• A slightly larger proportion of disabled people than regional average (by 1%) and 
national averages (by 2%) possibly a reflection of a high population aged 65+. 

54



 
2: Planning Context for Breckland  

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 7 

Future population 
  

2.31 The total population of Breckland is projected to rise from 135,832 people in 2016 to 
149,769 people by 2031, a projected increase of 10.2%. The proportion of females to 
males is 49.7% male and 50.3% female in 2016. In 2031 it is projected to be 50.2% male 
and 49.8% female.  

2.32 If the population changes are assessed in accordance with the different age groups 
that generally take part in different sports, the situation is expected to be as follows:  

Table 2.1: Population change by age bands for Breckland 2016 - 2031 
 

Age group 2016 2031 Change % 

Total population 135,832 149,769 + 10.2% 
Active population for sport and 

physical activity (5-54) 76,510 78,023 + 1.9% 

Less active population (55 – 64) 17,149 19,424 +13.2% 
Inactive population (0-4, 65 -74) 25,723 28,042 +9% 

Adult indoor sports (20-44) 37,105 37,774 + 1.8% 
 
2.33 The findings are: 

• The total population of Breckland is projected to increase from 135,832 people in 
2016 to 149,769 people by 2031, a projected increase of 10.2% 

 
• Meantime the population in the age band range 5 – 54 and which is the age 

range for the most active population for participation in sport and physical 
activity is projected to increase, by just 1.9% over the 2016 – 2031 period 

 
This is a key finding in that population change in the age bands where 
participation takes place most, there is a much smaller percentage increase in 
population. Therefore, with the same participation rates population change is 
only going to be a very small driver in increased demand for indoor sports 
facilities. The rates of participation for particular sports in Breckland over the 2006 
– 2015 period of the Sport England Active People survey are set out following the 
population assessment 
 

• There is also a category of less active population in the 55 – 64 age group and 
this is projected to increase by the highest percentage over the 2016 – 2031 
period and by 13.2%  

 
This age band does participate, albeit it has a lower rate of participation than in 
the younger age bands of the active population, hence the term less active 
population. Indoor sports/activities which this age band participates in most are, 
swimming and social/recreational day time activity such as badminton and 
exercise/dance classes, as well as some low intensity fitness activity. Low impact 
exercise classes are a popular activity with women. Motivations for participation 
are a health benefit and as a social and recreational activity. Outdoor activities 
are more popular than indoor, especially walking and for men golf, fishing and 
cycling. 

 

55



 
2: Planning Context for Breckland  

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 8 

• The inactive population (0 – 5 and 65 - 74) meantime increases by 9% over the 
period. It is important to distinguish the active from the inactive population 
because the active and the less active population is the basis of the demand 
assessment 

 
• The main age bands for participation in indoor hall sports and exercise classes 

which can take place in sports halls is 20 - 44 years of age. This population is 
projected to increase by 1.8% 

• It is important to consider the population by each gender because their 
participation and use of sports facilities differs. Male participation is very much 
around indoor hall sports such as five a side football, basketball and badminton. 
Whilst female participation is more about is very much around swimming, gym 
exercise and dance classes, pilates and yoga, more than hall sports 

• Both genders participate in health and fitness with this being higher with females.  
The total male population in the 20 - 44 age band is 18,253 people in 2016 and 
increases to 19,916 by 2031. The female total is 18,852 people in 2016 and is 
17,858 in 2031. So the gender split in population totals is quite close but with a 
high proportion of males by 2031. So possibly a slightly higher demand for hall 
sports but not significant, assuming participation rates remain as in 2016 

• Swimming participation is the only activity/facility type which is genuinely cradle 
to grave in terms of the age of participants. The Breckland population in the 
active population (5 – 54) as already set out is projected to increase by 1.9% 
between 2016 and 2031. So again population changes in this main age band for 
swimming participation is going to generate a small increase in demand for 
swimming 

• Swimming is also a popular activity for the less active 55 – 64 population. The 55 – 
64 age band increases by 13.2% between the two years but in numbers it is only 
an increase of 2, 275 people. So again, not a big increase in demand from this 
age band  

• For people aged 65 - 74, swimming and low impact exercise classes are the main 
indoor activities that people participate in. Outdoor activities such as walking are 
more popular, The Breckland population aged 65 – 74 is projected to increase 
from 8,860 to 10.202 people by 2031, an increase of 15% but only 1,342 people.   
Again a small increase in swimming demand from overall projected growth in 
population  

• Indoor bowling national participation data sets out that participation is highest in 
the 75 - 79 age band for both females (at 2.6% of this age band participating 
nationally) and males (4% participating nationally). The data identifies that 
between the ages 16 – 49 only 0.09% of the male population plays indoor bowls 
and only 0.06% of the female population plays bowls 

• The Breckland population in the 75 – 79 age band for males is projected to 
increase between 2016 – 2031 by 32% but only 956 people. For females, the 
projected increase is 30.4% but only 973 people. Given the very low percentage 
of the population in this age band that play indoor bowls (despite it being the 
age band with the highest participation), then again population increase is not 
going to be a driver of increased demand for indoor bowling. 

56



 
2: Planning Context for Breckland  

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 9 

2.34 To summarise therefore, and based on the projected changes in the Breckland 
population over the 2015 – 2031 period, demand for indoor sports facilities from 
projected population change is not a big driver of increased demand for indoor sports 
facilities. 

Trends in participation and non-participation in sport and physical activity for 
Breckland, East Region and England wide   

2.35 As well as the impact of projected population change on demand for indoor sports 
facilities it is also important to consider the rates of indoor sports participation. Like 
population change participation change is challenging to forecast. However, it is 
possible to set out past trends in participation as an indicator.   

2.36 The findings for adult participation in sport and physical activity for Breckland are 
presented using the Sport England Active People benchmark measure of once week 
participation of 1 x 30 minutes of moderate intensity activity. This is applied by Sport 
England in sports policy and its assessment of funding awards.   

2.37 Any sport, activity or facility type included in the ‘1 x 30’ sport indicator has to be 
undertaken for at least 30 minutes at least once a week and at moderate intensity. 
Moderate intensity is defined as where the participant should have a raised heart rate 
and be breathless but still able to hold a conversation. 

2.38 The ‘1x30’ sport indicator does not include recreational walking or recreational cycling 
(as the former NI8 indicator did). It does include more organised and intense/strenuous 
walking activities: Backpacking, Hill Trekking, Cliff Walking, Gorge Walking, Hill Walking, 
Rambling, Power Walking and sport ‘walking’.   

2.39 The ‘1x30’ sport indicator does include light intensity activities for those aged 65 and 
over: (in recognition that for people of this age, they can be considered moderate 
intensity). It includes yoga, pilates, indoor and outdoor bowls.  

2.40 The findings for East Region and England wide are included to provide context and 
comparison for the Breckland findings.  This is for the period of the Active People 
surveys 2006 – 2016. 

Table 2.2: Rate of at least once a week adult participation in sport and physical activity 
Breckland, East Region and England wide 2006 – 2016   

Breckland participation measure for at least once a week 
participation of 30 minutes duration at moderate intensity 
by adults (16+) 

2006 
Participation 
Rate (%)APS 1  

2016 
Participation 
Rate (%)APS 10 
2nd Quarter 

Once a week rate of participation all adults 
Breckland  
East Region 
England 

 
32.7% 
35.2% 
34.6% 

 
29.8% 
36.1% 
36.1% 

Once a week rate of participation by gender 
Breckland Male 
Breckland Female 
East Region Male  
East Region Female  
England wide Male 
England wide Female   

 
36.2% 
29.3% 
39.1% 
31.5% 
39.4% 
30.1% 

 
31.6% 
28.0% 
39.5% 
32.8% 
40.7% 
31.7% 

Swimming Pools and Sports Halls once a week 
participation 
Breckland   

 
 
20.4% 

 
 
14.6% 

57



 
2: Planning Context for Breckland  

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 10 

East Region  
England wide 

22.9% 
22.7% 

20.9% 
21.9% 

Swimming once a week participation  
Breckland 
East Region 
England 

 
8.4% 
8.1% 
8% 

 
6.6% (1)  
5.6% 
5.6% 

NON participation in sport and physical activity  
Breckland  
East Region  
England                                          

 
56.3% 
53% 
54.3% 

 
57.4% 
53% 
53.2% 

(Source: Sport England Active People Survey 2006 – 2016) 

(1) Data for Breckland is for 2010 -11 no data beyond this year    

2.41 The data shows that; 

• The Breckland adult participation rate across all activities has decreased from 
32.7% of all adults participating at least once a week in 2006 to 29.8% in 2016 

• Breckland’s rate of adult once a week participation is lower than for East Region 
and for England in 2006 and the gap has increased by 2016 

• Breckland’s female participation has been consistently lower than male 
participation over the period. It was 29.3% of adult females participating at least 
once a week in 2006 and 28% in 2016. Female participation is also lower than 
male participation in both East Region and England wide. It is however 5% above 
the Breckland rate for the Region and the England rate is nearly 4% above 
Breckland.  This is a consistent finding of lower female participation than male in 
nearly all areas. it underlines the importance of providing facilities where female 
participation is higher, such as swimming pools  

• The Breckland male once a week participation rate whilst higher than for females 
has declined, it being 36.2% of adult males participating at least once a week in 
2006 and 31.6% in 2016 

• The Breckland rate of adult male participation at 31.6% of males participating in 
2016 is considerably lower than the rate for East Region (39.5%) and the England 
wide rate (40.7%) 

• The adult rate of swimming participation in Breckland was 8.4% in 2006 and has 
declined to 6.6% in 2010 – 11, last year data is available. It has also declined at 
both East Region level from 8.1% in 2006 to 5.6% in 20165 and England wide from 
8% in 2006 to 56% in 2016. There has been a decline in swimming participation in 
almost all areas of England and is the subject of research by Sport England and 
the Amateur Swimming Association 

• Non-participation in Breckland (measured as adults who undertake no sport or 
physical activity) has increased from 56.3% of all adults in 2006, to 57.4% of all 
adults doing no activity in 2016 

• The Breckland rate of non-participation at 57% is higher than in East Region (53%) 
and England wide (53.2%) in 2016. 

 
2.42 Overall and in summary the key findings are;  

58



 
2: Planning Context for Breckland  

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 11 

• Breckland has a slightly declining rate of adult sports and physical activity 
participation over the period of the Active People surveys from 2006 to 2016. This 
is for all sports and includes both indoor and outdoor sports 

• Adult male participation is higher than female participation in total in Breckland. 
However, for both genders participation is declining, very slightly for females by 
just over 1% but by 4.6% for males over the 2006 – 2016 period 

• Swimming is the most popular activity in Breckland. The rate of swimming 
participation has declined by 1.8% in the five years between 2006 and 2011 to 
6.6% of all adults swimming at least once a week.  Swimming has declined by 
2.6% across the Region and by 2.4% across England between 2006 and 2016  

• The scale of the challenge to create a more active and healthy Breckland 
population is reflected in the finding that over 50% of the adult population in 
Breckland do no sport or physical activity at all in 2016. This has increased by 1.4% 
since 2006. It remains a significant challenge. 

2.43 Finally, these findings should be considered alongside targets and development 
initiatives put in place by Breckland Council, Parkwood, Leisure, and local sports clubs, 
National Governing Bodies of Sport, Active Norfolk and community groups. 
Development work by all these organisations could impact on increasing demand for 
indoor sports facilities.  This is the subject matter for developing a local sports and 
recreational strategy for the authority, including all these providers.  

Residential Development Breckland   

2.44 The projected residential development across Breckland is set out below in Table 2.3. 
This is from the Breckland Local Plan Part) This Interim Consultation (Summer 2016) .This 
distribution is consistent with the broad spatial strategy to direct the majority of 
development towards the larger, more sustainable, settlements. 50% is directed to the 
key settlements of Attleborough and Thetford; 30% to the Market Towns of Dereham, 
Swaffham and Watton; 15% to the Local Service Centres and the remaining 5% in rural 
areas (Figures based on estimated population growth).  

Table 2.3: Residential Development Breckland 2011 - 2036 

  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 
(
Source: Breckland Council Planning Department 2016) 

Settlement 
Hierarchy 

Local Plan 
Allocations (2011-

2036) 

Completions @ 
(31/3/2016) 

Commitments 
(11/07/2016) 

Total Estimated 
Population 

growth (2011-
2036) 

Thetford 0 295 3334 3629 7668 

Attleborough 2650 309 938 3897 8252 

Dereham 750 256 534 1540 2953 

Swaffham 
 

750 264 598 1612 3100 

Watton 400 252 653 1305 2445 

Local Service 
Centres 

925 376 905 2206 4209 

Rural Areas 150 281 308 739 1053 

Total 5625 2033 7270 12905 29682 

59



 
3: Assessing Needs and Opportunities for 

each facility type 

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 12 

 

3.1 This section sets out the methodology that has been used in the development of the 
needs assessment and evidence base. The assessment has been produced applying   
the guidance from Sport England in ANOG for indoor and built sports facilities.  

3.2 The ANOG methodology was published by Sport England in 2014 following extensive 
consultation and a review of the former PPG 17 Companion Guide to Assessing Needs 
for Indoor Sport and Recreation and Open Space. ANOG is now the accepted industry 
wide methodology for undertaking a needs assessment and developing an evidence 
base.  

3.3 The ANOG methodology has four parts. These are:  quantity, quality, accessibility and 
availability. The Sport England ANOG guidance advises to set out the findings from the 
needs assessment in terms of;   

• Protect: an evidence base which can inform policy formulation and seek to 
protect exiting facilities where there is an identified current need and future need 
for use by the community; 

 
• Enhance:  an evidence base which can inform policy and seek to enhance the 

provision of existing facilities where there is an identified current and future need 
and the most effective way to meet this need is by improvement to what already 
exists. This could be by enhanced facility provision but it could also change 
access and availability of existing facilities to make the existing supply deliver 
more use for the community; and 

 
• Provide:  an evidence base which can inform policy and lead to provision of new 

facilities where there is an identified need now and in the future. Plus, the most 
cost and sports effective way to meet this need is by provision of new facilities.  

 
Diagram 3.1: Sport England Approach to Assessing Needs 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

60



 
3: Assessing Needs and Opportunities for 

each facility type 

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 13 

3.4 The stages of the ANOG approach are set out below and this is followed by a 
description of how the ANOG has been applied in Breckland: 

 A Undertaking an Assessment: 

Stage 1 – Prepare and tailor your assessment 
Stage 2 – Gather information on supply and demand 
Stage 3 – Assessment, bring the information together  
 

 B Application of the Assessment 
 

 Stage 1: Prepare and tailor the assessment.  

3.5 At the scoping meeting held on 30th August 2016 the project brief and proposal were 
reviewed.  The client requested that the 2016 assessment be completed by the end of 
November for all the facility types. This would establish the baseline evidence base.  
Towards the end of this stage it would be possible to determine if a bespoke facility 
planning model (fpm) assessment would be required to develop a detailed evidence 
base for swimming pools and sports halls based on the stage one findings, the impact 
of the projected, scale and location of new residential development. Plus views 
obtained through consultation from providers, operators, schools and clubs about 
changes in the current provision. 

3.6 It was also decided to review the value and benefit of undertaking a bespoke fpm 
assessment for full size artificial grass pitches (AGPs) for football and hockey use. Again 
the stage one evidence base findings would provide the direction and the merit of 
doing this work as part on of the indoor sports and built recreational facilities evidence 
base, or, doing this work as part of a playing pitch strategy for Breckland.  

3.7 The latter would consider the role of AGPs in meeting the future demand for football 
and hockey on all types of surfaces natural grass and artificial. It may therefore be 
more effectively progressed as part of a playing pitch strategy project.  

3.8 The scoping meeting allowed naa to familiarize ourselves with the key Council 
documents and understand the relationship between the development of the 
evidence base and the wider Council objectives. Key contacts within Breckland 
Council were identified for consultations as well as external stakeholders, principally 
Sport England, Active Norfolk. Parkwood Leisure, Watton Sports Trust and the secondary 
schools with indoor sports facilities. The facilities for site visits were identified and the key 
consultees as part of the site visits.  

3.9 The data on the existing supply of facilities in Breckland for each of the seven facility 
types in the project scope was produced for the meeting. This was taken from the Sport 
England Active Places Power database and the facility listing for 2016.This was 
subsequently reviewed by BDC for any errors, and omissions. Some very minor changes 
were needed and it formed the existing supply database for use in the 2016 evidence 
base work. 

Stage 2: Gather Information on Supply and Demand 

3.10 The hard evidence data and mapping for Breckland and the surrounding local 
authorities from Sport England’s Active Places Power database is the source for 
developing the hard evidence base. The data is reviewed and a commentary 

61



 
3: Assessing Needs and Opportunities for 

each facility type 

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 14 

provided on the supply, demand, access and availability of each of the facility types. 
For the larger facility types of swimming pools, sports halls and indoor bowling  centres 
(there are no indoor tennis centres in Breckland) there is more extensive data on 
participation rates, frequency of participation by age six bands and for both genders.  

3.11 This data is interrogated and a commentary developed on demand for facilities. Also 
the data on the catchment area of facilities and how accessible they are by different 
travel modes is reviewed and a commentary provided. This is both a quantified and 
spatial assessment. It identifies if there is demand located outside the catchment area 
of facilities and if so at which locations and at what scale. So the gaps in access to 
facilities are identified and the scale of this unmet demand from lack of access. 

3.12 Finally the data provides findings on the level of usage at facilities and how this is 
distributed across venues. So it is possible to identify if some facilities are fuller than 
others.   

3.13 For swimming pools and sports halls, which account for between 60% - 70% of the total 
indoor sports facility participation at the community level, it is possible to do the same 
data analysis described for Breckland for all the neighboring authorities. So tables are 
produced setting out the findings for each local authority alongside Breckland. As the 
assessment is based on the catchment area of facilities in Breckland extending into 
these neighbouring authorities and vice versa, it is possible to identify how much 
Breckland demand is exported and how much is imported. 

3.14 This data with an extensive review and compilation of the findings into a detailed 
report provides the hard evidence part of the ANOG assessment for the facility types in 
2016. The findings from this work are then overlaid with findings from the population 
and participation review up to 2031, already described to provide the forward 
assessment up to 2031 for the four facility types of indoor bowling, indoor tennis, squash 
courts and health and fitness. As already set out, providing the assessment and 
evidence for swimming pools and sports halls and possibly artificial grass pitches will be 
undertaken as part of a facility planning model assessment. The results will then be 
incorporated into this evidence base report and appendix to provide a 2016 – 2031 
evidence base for all facility types.   

3.15 This extensive hard evidence database forms a large part of the content for the 
consultations and site visits. The site visits and consultations allowed for a cross check on 
what the hard evidence data was saying about the facility provision but more 
importantly: the community access to the venues; the objectives, hours and types of 
use; changes and challenges in operation of the venue for community use from the 
provider and the customer; and the barriers to increasing participation.  Information 
where available was also collected on programing, membership details and details of 
casual and club user information. Discussion focused on the type of operation. 

3.16 Site visits and or consultations were undertaken with all the main providers, Parkwood 
Leisure, schools, clubs and sports trusts. This included all type of operation, pay and 
play, organised club use and commercial membership providers. The site visit 
consultations were held with the business and or facility manager and the head of PE 
at schools. The only exceptions was Scared Heart Convent School who declined to 
respond. 

 

 

62



 
3: Assessing Needs and Opportunities for 

each facility type 

     Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities 15 

Stage 3 – Assessment Report  

3.17 The final part is to bring all the findings together into the actual assessment of the 
current and future provision for each of the facility types.  This is set out in full in 
Appendix 1. The sequence of reporting is the same for each facility type and it is 
structured to follow the Sport England’s ANOG guidance.  

3.18 For each facility type the findings under each of the ANOG headings are set out in a 
summary table. This is followed by more detailed findings. This is followed in turn, with a 
commentary on the site visits and consultations for each facility type.  

.  

63



 
4: Planning Framework  

            Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities  18 

  

4.1 This section sets out in tabular form the recommendations which arise from the audit and 
assessment. They are categorised under the headings of ‘Protect’, ‘Enhance’ and 
‘Provide’, as recommended by Sport England in the ANOG guidance. These categories 
are not mutually exclusive and some recommendations will sit comfortably both within 
‘Enhance’ and ‘Provide’ for example.  The focus is more about:    

• Protection of what already exists – because there is an identified need and demand 
(PROTECT); 

• Enhancement and making more effective use of the existing sports facilities. This is by 
one or more of: modernisation of the facilities and/or management intervention and 
change to work with all providers in partnership.  To do this, so as to ensure that 
opportunities to work collaboratively are taken and the opportunities for community 
use are maximised (ENHANCE); and 

• New provision of facilities as identified by the assessment. As well as initial provision, 
this could involve RE- PROVISION of an existing facility.  This is based on a continuing 
need for the facility but on grounds of buildings reaching the end of their life, it is 
more cost and sports effective to re-provide. (PROVIDE OR RE-PROVIDE). 

 

64



 

          Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities  19 

 

Table 5.1: Evidence Base Recommendations 
 

SWIMMING POOLS 
 

PROTECT 

  

Protect and maintain the 2 swimming pool sites which provide for community use.  
These sites have a total of 5 individual pools. Breckland Leisure Centre and 
Waterworld has three pools: a main pool of 313 sq metres of water (a 25m x 6 lanes 
pool), a leisure pool of 275 sq metres of water and a teaching/learner pool of 75 sq 
metres of water. 

Dereham Leisure Centre has two pools, a main pool of 338 sq metres of water, (also a 
25m x 6 lanes) and a teaching/learner pool of 135 sq metres of water.    

In 2016 and in 2031 some 70% of the total demand for swimming from Breckland 
residents is being met. All 100% of the unmet demand in 2016 is from location and 
demand located outside the catchment area of a pool. In 2031 some 98% of the 
unmet dmned is from this definition and 2% is from lack of swimming pool capacity  

Some 80% of the total 70% of the demand for swimming which is met/satisfied by a 
Breckland resident using a pool located in the authority, known as retained demand. 
This is a reasonably high level of retained demand and shows the pool locations and 
catchment areas are reasonably well placed in relation to where the Breckland 
demand for swimming is located. 
 
The finding is that 30% of the Breckland demand that is met is exported in both 2016 
and 2031.   This equates to around 1,190 visits and the demand retained in the 
authority is 4,680 visits in the weekly peak period.  By 2031 the retained demand is 
4,743 visits n the weekly peak period and the exported demand is 1,425 visits.  
 
Based on the mapping of pool locations and catchment areas of pools in 
neighbouring authorities, most demand is exported to South Norfolk. Attleborough is 
outside the drive to catchment area of the Breckland Leisure Centre pool and the 
nearest pool is at Wymondham Leisure Centre in South Norfolk. This pool has recently 
had a £3m modernisation, which along with it being the most accessible pool for the 
eastern side of Breckland will increase its attractiveness to Breckland residents.  

ENHANCE 

The quality of the swimming pool offer is very good. The two Breckland pool sites can 
provide for the full range of swimming activities of, learn to swim, public recreational 
swimming, lane and fitness swimming and swimming development through clubs.  
There is also scope for fun, confidence building and family based activities within the 
leisure pool at the Breckland Centre in Thetford.  
 
The pools were built in two eras. Breckland Leisure Centre opened in 1974 and was 
extensively modernised in 2007. Dereham Leisure Centre opened in 2007 and so is 
nine years old. Over the period to 2031 there will be the need to keep maintaining 
the quality of the swimming pools as well as modernise the venues.  
 

PROVIDE 

Unmet demand reflects the geographic size, the settlement pattern of the authority 
and the distances between the major settlements. Also the two pool sites are located 
in the north east and south/ west of the authority. The areas of highest unmet 
demand outside the catchment area of a pool is in and around Swaffham at 130 sq 
metres of water in 2016 and increasing to 145 sq metres of water in 2031. There is also 

65



 

          Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities  20 

unmet demand of around 100 sq metres of water in both years in Watton  

Both towns are on the edge of the drive time catchment area of the public 
swimming pools. Also Swaffham appears to be equidistant between the drive time 
catchment area of the Dereham pool and the pool in Downham Market.   

Swaffham is the area of highest unmet demand for swimming across Breckland.  The 
facilities planning model assessment is that there is sufficient demand based on the 
projected population growth up to 2031 to consider provision of a 20m x 4 lane pool 
(160 sq metres of water) in Swaffham.  

This is the quantified and accessibly assessment and the outcome of the assessment 
is for a pool of this scale to meet the projected demand. This assessment does not 
support a larger pool size. The most usual community pool size is 25m x 4 lanes (of 
between 210 – 250 sq metres of water depending on lane width). 

SPORTS HALLS 
 

PROTECT 

 Maintain and protect the existing quantity of sports halls. In 2016 Breckland has a 
total supply of 9 sports halls on 7 sites with a total of 32 badminton courts. Two of the 
sites are part of the multi sports public leisure centres at Dereham and Breckland 
Leisure Centre in Thetford. In addition, there is the sports hall at Attleborough Sports 
Hall and the dual use site at Swaffham Leisure Centre with Nicholas Hammond 
Academy.  

 
There are then sports halls on secondary school sites at Neatherd High School 
Dereham Wayland Academy Watton and Northgate High School, Dereham. In 
addition to these sites, there is also the Watton Sports Centre sports hall. 
 
The total supply of sports halls is 32 badminton courts but this reduces to 27 courts in 
the weekly peak period because of the variable availability of sports halls across the 
education venues. Total demand for sports halls by Breckland residents equates to 36 
courts in 2016. 
 
By 2031 the projected demand for sports halls equates to 38 badminton courts. So 
demand is projected to be greater than supply in both years and hence the need to 
protect the quantity of supply (but see also findings under the provide headings)  
 
Some 82% of the Breckland total demand for sports halls is being met in both 2016 
and 83% in 2031. Of this total, some 78% of the met demand is met in Breckland in 
2016 and just under 84% in 2031. This is based on Breckland residents traveling to and 
using the nearest sports hall to where they live. So, the network of sports hall sites and 
their catchment area are providing a very good level of access for Breckland 
residents. 
 
In 2016 some 22% of the Breckland demand which is met is exported and met in 
neighbouring authorities and this decreases to 17% of the Breckland demand being 
exported in 2031. The largest exported demand is to South Norfolk and Forest Heath 
in both years.  

ENHANCE 

The sports hall stock is quite old, with an average age of 32 years. There has been 
one sports hall opened since 2000, this being the Dereham Leisure Centre in 2007. The 
oldest sports hall is at Wayland Academy opened in 1970. Four of the oldest venues 
have been modernised.  The oldest unmodernised sports halls are Wayland 
Academy (1960).  Swaffham Leisure Centre (1981) and Attleborough Sports Hall 
(1982). 

66



 

          Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities  21 

Over the period up to 2031 there will be a need to either modernise the existing sports 
hall venues or re-provide sports halls. A feature of the Swaffham sports halls is that the 
age and condition of the Centre is limiting its attractiveness for community use. Whilst 
the Attleborough Centre is not promoted for community use, again because of its 
age and condition.     

Given these findings, the fpm assessment modelled the supply and demand impact 
of re-provision of the Swaffham and Attleborough Centres by 2020. Plus the inclusion 
of a further community sports hall in Dereham by 2031, to reflect the authority wide 
2016 findings on supply and demand findings for sports halls.  

PROVIDE 

 
The findings from the re-provision assessment is that there is sufficient demand to 
justify the provision of a new sports hall in Attleborough to replace the existing Centre. 
The scale of the new sports hall from the assessment is for a 6 badminton court size 
sports hall of 34m x 27m. 
 
The findings from the assessment also support there being sufficient demand to justify 
the provision of a replacement sports hall in Swaffham. The scale of this new sports 
hall based on the assessment is for a 4 badminton court sports hall of 34.5m x 20m. In 
effect the same number of courts as the existing venue but with a slightly larger scale 
based on the Sport England and Governing Bodies of Sport specification.  
 
Given the age of the Attleborough and Swaffham centres, the modelling assessment 
was based on closure of the existing centres and provision of the new centres by 
2020. 
 
Finally, the assessment also identified the area of highest demand for sports halls in 
both 2016 and 2031 is in Dereham and to the north of Dereham.   The findings from 
the fpm assessment do support the provision of a further sports hall of 4 badminton 
court size of 34.5m x 20m in Dereham. A suitable location being Northgate High 
School  
 

ARTIFICAL GRASS PITCHES 
 

PROTECT 2016 Findings 
 
As already set out the future assessment of need for full size artificial grass pitches will 
be progressed through the development of a playing pitch strategy by Breckland 
Council. The findings set out here therefore relate to the 2016 assessment and do 
provide interim guidance under the project, enhance and provide headings.  
 
The 2016 findings support maintaining the existing supply of AGP’s across Breckland.  
In 2016 Breckland has 5 AGPs pitches on four sites.   
 
There is a double pitch site at Dereham Hockey Club with two sand dressed pitches.  
There are two other sand dressed pitches at Breckland Leisure Centre and Watton 
Sports Centre. There is only one 3g pitch which is located at Dereham Neatherd High 
School. 
 
The 5 pitches have an effective supply of 4.8 pitch equivalents in the weekly peak 
period. The very slight reduction of 0.20 of a pitch is due to very slightly reduced hours 
of access for community use aggregated across the sites.  
 
The Breckland hard evidence demand for AGPs is for a minimum of 3.6 pitches for the 
combined use for football (2.8 pitches) and hockey (0.8 pitches). This hard evidence 

67



 

          Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities  22 

assessment does however most likely, under estimate demand for hockey. The 
Dereham Hockey Club is a very large club with 13 men’s and women’s senior teams 
and 9 boys and girls teams. So, the demand for this club and for hockey is for 
between 1.5 and 2 pitches, which is the club’s supply of pitches.  
 
Pitches are accessible in Dereham (3 pitches), Thetford (1 pitch) and Watton (1 
pitch). There are no pitches in Swaffham and Attleborough. The nearest pitches to 
Swaffham are the Dereham pitches and a pitch at RAF Marham in KL & WN. This is an 
old sand dressed floodlit pitch opened in 1974 Given the age, location and limited 
access to this pitch it could not be regarded as a pitch which is accessible to 
Swaffham. 
 
There is no pitch in Attleborough and the nearest pitch is located at Easton College in 
South Norfolk. This is however outside the 20 minute drive time catchment area of 
Attleborough and is not an effective supply for Attleborough. 
 

ENHANCE The average age of the 5 pitches is 17 years and so quite an old stock. The pitches 
have been provided at a rate of one in each of the past four decades.  The 
Dereham Hockey Club pitches are the oldest having opened in 1987 and were last 
resurfaced in 2007.  
 
The Watton Sport Centre pitch was opened in 1998, and has not been re-surfaced. 
The Centre is trying to secure funds to re-surface the pitch.  Breckland Leisure Centre 
pitch opened in 2006 and according to the data has not been resurfaced. Finally, 
the most recent pitch is the 3g pitch at Neatherd High School opened in 2014.  
 
All five pitches are floodlit. 
 
There is a need to resurface the pitches. The average age for a pitch carpet is 
around 6 – 10 years, depending on the level of use. 
 

PROVIDE 

 The key topics issue which emerge from the AGP assessment for inclusion in the 
playing pitch strategy work are: 

• The balance in the type of pitch surfaces. Four of the pitches are sand 
filled/dressed surfaces and only one is a 3g surface. The Football Association 
policy is to move all affiliated football at the local level onto 3g surfaces. However 
there is a deficit in supply of 3g pitches in Breckland to meet the FA objective. 
Scope to redress the pitch surface balance is limited because the 2 pitches at 
Dereham Hockey Club are sand based pitches for hockey use. So, the only 
pitches that could be converted are at Watton Sports Centre and Breckland 
Leisure Centre.  

 
• In meeting the FA objective it has implications for the number of natural grass 

pitches required (reduced) and the provision of 3g pitches (increased). Also, if 
there is increased provision of 3g pitches, this has implications for the level of 
football use of sand dressed pitches. Moving football onto 3g pitches and not 
replacing with hockey use at the sand based pitches could lead to an oversupply 
of sand dressed pitches.  

 
 

INDOOR BOWLING 
 

PROTECT 
Maintain but keep under review the need for the three indoor bowling centres over 
the period to 2031.  
 

68



 

          Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities  23 

Indoor bowling is the indoor sports facility type most used by residents in their 70’s and 
80’s. Indoor bowling participation is highest in the 75 – 79 age band. 
 
There are three indoor bowling centres in Breckland. Breckland Leisure Centre 
Thetford (6 rinks and opened in 2006); Dereham Leisure Centre (4 rinks and opened in 
2007); and Old Hall Indoor Bowls Club NW of Watton (4 rinks opened in 1974 and 
modernised in 2002). 

By applying the Sport England rates and frequency of participation to the Breckland 
population in 2016 and for 2031, it is possible to identify the potential demand for 
indoor bowling. In 2016 this equates to 908 bowlers in 2016 and increasing to 1, 081 
bowlers in 2031. At a per rink capacity of 100 bowlers per rink, this equates to 9 rinks in 
2016 and increasing by 2 rinks to 11 in 2031.  

So, on this assessment supply of rinks slightly exceeds demand over the period to 
2031. This however is based on the existing rates of indoor bowling participation 
continuing to apply – this is questionable.  

The current membership of the two resident clubs at the public leisure centres is, 
Dereham Leisure Centre 200 members and at Thetford it is 100 members. The Old Hall 
indoor bowls club did not respond to requests for a meeting. An off chance site visit 
did not result in meeting anyone from the club. So, there is no data about 
membership of this club or the Centre operation.  

The playing membership of the two Breckland clubs in 2016 at a total of 300 
members, plus the public pay and play usage at the centres is well within the 
capacity of the 10 rinks at the two centres.  

In 2014 the County Sports Partnership delivered a 2 year project funded by the 
Governing Body and working with the clubs and Parkwood Leisure. The aim being to 
grow participation of people aged 55+ in the sport of bowls across the four main 
formats of the game (including indoor).  The project had a countywide remit and a 
large element of the project was to award grants to bowls clubs to fund open days 
and structured coaching sessions to support the recruitment of new players.   

The indoors bowls clubs in the Breckland area were engaged across the 2 years of 
the project; Dereham IBC were very successful in recruiting new players and ran a 
total of 4 recruitment events and recruited 44 players aged 55+.  The Brecks (Thetford) 
club also ran 4 recruitment events but only recruited 8 players aged 55+.  The project 
had its challenge in engaging clubs and take up of the project and support was 
slow. 

The Dereham club continues to be very proactive in increasing its membership. 
However, at Thetford the level of usage and membership has led to the rink being 
divided into two areas of three rinks. One for the bowlers and one for use by martial 
arts clubs. 

So overall the clubs need to continue to increase membership to support the 
provision of the indoor bowling centres.  

EHNANCE 

The quality of the centres is good and the main quality requirements over the period 
to 2031 will be replacement of the carpet every 8 – 10 years, depending on the 
amount of play. There will also be a need to maintain and improve lighting systems. 
 

PROVIDE There is no identified need to provide further indoor bowling centres in Breckland 
based on the current level of provision and projected participation levels to 2031.  

69



 

          Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities  24 

 
INDOOR TENNIS 

 
PROTECT 

AND 
ENHANCE 

There are no indoor tennis courts/centres located in Breckland. So, there are no 
recommendations under these headings.  
 

PROVIDE 

Based on the Sport England data of Breckland adults who do play and those who 
would like to play indoor tennis, the 2016 Breckland adult population (over 16) 
would generate 246 tennis players. Based on the same participation rate applied 
to the Breckland adult population in 2031, would generate 274 tennis players. 

The Lawn Tennis Association capacity figure for one indoor tennis court to be 
occupied for around 80% of the weekly peak period of weekday evenings and 
weekend days is 200 users. So, based on the projected participation rates, the 
Breckland population would generate demand for just over 1 indoor court in 
each of the two years.  

It is not a viable proposition to provide just one court and the usual provision is for 
at least two and usually three indoor courts, ideally situated alongside an 
established outdoor tennis court club, or, as part of a public or commercial indoor 
sports Centre.  

Breckland does not have any established outdoor tennis clubs and there are no 
major commercial indoor sports and leisure centres in Breckland.  The Dereham 
and Breckland Leisure Centres are public sports and recreational facilities under 
commercial management.  

The development of outdoor tennis is the main focus of the Lawn Tennis 
Association. Should outdoor tennis participation increase, this could, in turn, lead 
to the establishment of an outdoor tennis club in Breckland. This in turn could 
generate further demand/critical mass for an indoor tennis centre.  

The recommendation is not to consider provision of an indoor tennis centre, until 
there is an increase in tennis participation and a viable club base that can create 
sufficient demand for at least 2 indoor courts. The potential provision of an indoor 
centre, could then be subject to a detailed feasibility study.  

(Note: The nearest centre to Breckland is the Easton College Centre which has 8 
courts in two separate centres.  This venue is within a 20 minute drive time of the 
eastern side of Breckland but the majority of the authority is outside the 20 minute 
drive time catchment area of an indoor tennis centre. The other venues are in 
Broadland but further east from Breckland than the Easton College Centre).  

 
SQUASH 

 

PROTECT 

Maintain the existing courts and venues at Breckland Leisure Centre (4 courts), 
Watton Sports Centre (2 courts) and Swaffham Sports Centre (1 court). It is important 
to provide facilities to enable squash participation to continue at the pay and play 
level.  There is no provision in Dereham or Attleborough. There are no squash or tennis 
clubs which own or provide squash courts.     
 
Participation in squash and racketball based on the benchmark measure of at least 
once a week participation is available at the East Region level for 2006 – 2015. 
Participation data is not available below this geographic level. The participation rate 
in squash at the East Region level has declined, from 0.74% of adults playing at least 
once a week in 2006 to 0. 48%of adults in 2016.    
 
The reasons for the reduction in squash participation is attributed by England Squash 
to (1) decreasing popularity of the sport after the very extensive rise in participation in 

70



 

          Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities  25 

the 1980’s, estimated at over 2m players at its height, (2) increasing attractiveness of 
other activities, most noticeably health and fitness which appealed to the same 
demographic (16 – 44) as squash, (3) an ageing average age of squash 
participation, currently estimated to be between 52 – 55 years of age.  
 
Should participation not increase there may be competing demand for the space at 
the existing centres. Retention of courts at the Breckland Leisure Centre is very 
important, so that there is continued provision of (at least) one location in Breckland. 
It is the location with the highest number of courts and there is an active squash club 
focusing on recreational play. 
 

ENHANCE 

The average age of the squash court venues is 31 years and the most recent 
provision is at Watton Sports Centre, which opened in 1998. 

Continued maintenance of the courts and changing accommodation is required to 
maintain the quality of the venues and retain participation.  

PROVIDE 

There is no identified need to provide further squash courts in Breckland up to 2031. 
This assessment is based on the current level of provision and participation levels 
which can meet the levels of participation in Breckland and accommodate any 
increase.  
 
Further development of the sport is dependent on rates of participation stabilizing, 
then increasing and attracting a younger age group of players. 
 
Based on a 20 minute drive time catchment area of the three centres, all of 
Breckland is inside the catchment area of a squash venue. There are no courts in 
Dereham and Attleborough but they are (just) inside the 20 minute drive time 
catchment area of the courts at Watton Sports Centre.    

HEALTH AND FITNESS 
 

PROTECT 

Maintain the existing provision of health and fitness in terms of scale, location and 
accessibility. Maintain a watching brief on trends in health and fitness provision 
and participation. It will be important to monitor how these changes reflect the 
current supply and demand balance - quantitatively, spatially and across all 
providers (see provide comments).  
 

ENHANCE 

The average age of the venues is 18 years, with 6 venues of the total 11 venues 
having opened pre 1990 and 5 post 2000. The most recent venue is the Amazon 
Gym in Attleborough, which opened in 2010. The age of the venue is less 
important than the age of the equipment and according to the data, 6 of the 
venues have replaced or upgraded equipment in the past 5 years.  

The oldest equipment is in the education venues and it is understood there are no 
plans to upgrade or replace equipment. Should schools decide to include health 
and fitness in their community use offer, then there will be the need to upgrade 
and replace the equipment, this should be supported.   

PROVIDE 

Projecting the potential demand for health and fitness to 2031 is very challenging, 
given the dynamic nature and frequent changes in both provision and 
participation.  Health and fitness provision, more than any other indoor facility 
type, is very much ‘market’ led and changes frequently. Recent trends (past 2-3 
years) suggest smaller gyms but with more studios to deliver solely class based 
workouts, as opposed to use of traditional fitness equipment is the latest trend/mix 
of provision. 

Also the recent (last 5 years) increase in the low cost gyms without long term 

71



 

          Breckland Council: Evidence Base for Indoor Sports and Recreational Facilities  26 

memberships and which provide the gym and quality equipment but little else 
have opened up the market and created a new appeal and market. Meantime, 
there is possibly less demand for the gyms which also provide for a range of other 
services, spas, saunas and treatments and which have a long term membership 
commitment. 

So, it is a very segregated market in terms of (1) different types of provision for 
different types of participants and based on (2) consumer demand; (3) levels of 
disposable income (4) membership and non-membership marketing and pricing and 
(5) consumers changing interest in different activities. 
 
Parkwood Leisure is considering expanding its health and fitness offer at both 
Dereham Leisure Centre and the Breckland Centre. Based on a sound business case 
this should be supported.  

 

 Summary and application of the evidence base  

4.2 This project provides an evidence base which sets out the current and future 
requirements for indoor sports and recreational facilities across Breckland 2016 – 2031.  
The application of this evidence base will be used by the Council to inform its 
Infrastructure Development Plan which, in turn, will form part of the Council’s new Local 
Plan. It will also provide a stand-alone document in its own right. 

4.3 The evidence base has been developed for six facility types. These being, swimming 
pools, sports halls, indoor bowling centres, indoor tennis centres, health and fitness 
(gyms) and squash courts. The Council decided to apply the Sport England facility 
planning model (fpm) in the future assessment of need for swimming pools and sports 
halls.   This is because of the significance of these facility types in providing for the 
majority of indoor sports and physical activity participation.  

4.4 The fpm assessment included options to change the supply of both swimming pools 
and sports halls to address the findings identified in the 2016 assessment. In effect it 
modelled options for both changing and increasing the supply of both facility types.  

72


	Agenda
	6 Local Plan Affordable Housing Policy
	7 Revisions to Rural Areas Policy PD05
	Appendix A PD05 100317

	8 Water Cycle Study Update
	Appendix 1 Extract from Infrastructure Delivery Plan

	9 Historic Characterisation Study
	10 Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities Study - Final
	Appendix A Evidence Base for Indoor and Built Sports and Recreational Facilities
	Planning framework and standards



